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      Prologue: Mughal
Twilight

      
      
      I

      
      India is a land of vanished supremacies. Each proclaimed its power and permanence by architecture on the grand scale, designed
         to inspire admiration, awe and even fear. Always the observer is compelled to look upwards. One cranes one’s neck to see the
         strongholds of Rajput warlords, perched precariously on the hilltops of Rajputana (Rajasthan), and one stands back to view
         the great mosques and mausoleums of their overlords, the Mughal emperors. Approach requires a degree of supplication; one
         trudges up the hillside to reach the Jaipur maharajas’ palace at Amber and vast flights of steps skirt the government offices
         of the British Raj in New Delhi. The overall impression is of a country where power has been concentrated in a few hands and
         always flowed downwards.
      

      
      There is much truth in this. The public buildings of the Mughals, the Indian princes and the Raj were expressions of their
         authority, reminding the onlooker of his place in the scale of things. Wealth went hand in hand with political power; the
         elaborate and intricate marblework, jewelled inlays and painted panels which decorated mosques and palaces announced their
         patrons and owners as men of infinite richness. The British were more cautious about this sort of ostentation. Sir Edwin Lutyens,
         the mastermind behind that complex of official buildings which was to form the heart of ‘imperial’ Delhi, considered traditional
         Indian architecture too florid and therefore unsuitable for a regime whose chief characteristics were integrity and firmness. Like other, earlier architects of the Raj, he preferred to assert its supremacy with solid stonework and severe
         classical motifs, which was understandable given that they and their patrons saw Britain as the new Rome. The fashion had
         been set in the early 1800s by the Marquess Wellesley, who believed that the dignity of a Governor-General of Bengal required
         a colonnaded mansion in the contemporary Georgian neo-classical style. Opposite his austere but imposing Government House
         was a triumphal arch surmounted by a vigilant imperial lion, which soon became a popular roost for Calcutta’s cranes, vultures
         and kites.
      

      
      India’s official architecture was a backdrop for the traditional public rituals of state. The formal processions in which
         a ruler presented himself to his subjects and undertook his devotions, and the durbars (assemblies) where great men met, exchanged gifts and compliments and discussed high policy, required settings appropriate
         to what was, in effect, the theatre of power. At the heart of the Emperor Shahjahan’s great palace in Delhi, now called the
         Red Fort, are the great audience halls, one a vast open courtyard, the other enclosed and reserved for foreign ambassadors
         and other elevated visitors. Both are now stripped of their awnings and wall-hangings and the private chamber lacks the Peacock
         Throne, a stunning construction of gold and jewels surmounted by a golden arch and topped by two gilded peacocks, birds of
         allegedly incorruptible flesh which may have symbolised not only the splendour of the Mughals but also their durability.
      

      
      When Shahjahan held durbars for his subjects, dispensing justice and settling quarrels, he overlooked them from a high, canopied
         dias with a delicately painted ceiling. If he glanced upwards, he saw a panel which portrays Orpheus playing his lute before
         wild beasts who, bewitched by his music, are calmly seated around him. The scene was a reminder to the emperor and his successors
         that they were Solomonic kings. Like the Thracian musician, they were bringers of harmony, spreading peace among subjects
         who, if left to their own devices, would live according to the laws of the jungle. It was a nice and revealing conceit, a
         key to the nature of Mughal kingship and, for that matter, its successor, the British Raj.
      

      
      Shahjahan’s Delhi palace (he renamed the city Shahjahanabad) was completed in the middle years of the seventeenth century.
         He was a Timurid, a dynasty of interlopers who had founded their Indian empire in the mid-sixteenth century, and whose pedigree
         stretched back to the fourteenth-century conqueror, Timur the Great (Marlowe’s Tamburlaine). By Shahjahan’s time, Timurid
         domination extended from the Himalayan foothills to the borders of the Deccan. Even in the period of their ascendancy, the Mughals were never absolute masters of the whole of India; there were many remote, inaccessible regions where
         their will never penetrated. There were also areas, particularly in central India, where their authority rested on the submission
         and co-operation of local princes.
      

      
      For outsiders, the physical boundaries of Mughal power were immaterial. Contemporary Europeans, fed on travellers’ tales of
         the magnificence of his courts at Agra and Delhi, rated India’s emperor as one of the great princes of earth, equal in stature
         to the Sultan of Turkey or the Emperor of China. The Mughal emperor was a figure of immense dignity and grandeur, a potentate
         who was imagined to hold absolute sway over millions. For European intellectuals seeking to understand the nature of political
         power, the Great Mughal was the embodiment of that despotism which was thought to be natural to the Orient. And yet, the Mughals
         complied with the Renaissance ideals of kingship, for they were renowned as connoisseurs and patrons of the arts. On an embassy
         to the imperial court in 1615, Sir Thomas Roe judged the palace at Agra as ‘one of the great works and wonders of the world’
         and admitted to the Emperor Jahangir, whose son, Shah Jehan, later had the Taj Mahal built, that his portrait painters surpassed
         those of James I.1 It was, of course, easy for Western visitors to be bowled over by the splendour of Mughal architecture and the magnificence
         of their state pageantry, and to imagine that together they were the façade of a power which was total and limitless.
      

      
      Appearances were misleading. Whatever its architecture announced to the contrary, the Mughal empire was never monolithic,
         nor did the emperor’s will run freely throughout India. He was shah-an-shah, a king of kings, a monarch whose dominions were a political mosaic, whose tessera included provinces administered by imperial
         governors and semi-independent petty states. In the Deccan alone there were over a thousand fortified towns and villages,
         each under the thumb of its own zamindar (landowner), who was both a subject of the emperor and his partner in government.2 The machinery of Mughal government needed the goodwill and co-operation of such men, as well as the services of its salaried
         administrators who enforced the law and gathered imperial revenues.
      

      
      Timurid power rested ultimately on the cash raised from the land tax. Its burden was heaviest on the ryots (peasants) and it was theoretically yielding an annual 232 million rupees (£31.3 million) at the close of the seventeenth
         century.3 Taken from an official revenue manual, this estimate ignored the often considerable sums siphoned off by venal officials.
         Nonetheless, the Mughals possessed, at least on paper, the wherewithal to play a political masterhand in their dominions: cash procured soldiers, allies and a loyal civil service. It could also seduce
         the discontented and purchase the allegiance of enemies. In the early 1690s, when the Emperor Aurangzeb’s armies were fighting
         in Karnataka, he lured back a renegade raja, Yacham Nair, with an offer of a jagir (a lifetime annuity from land revenue) worth 900,000 rupees (£121,500) a year. Not long after, Aurangzeb ordered Yacham’s
         arrest and murder.4

      
      This was a typical exercise in Mughal statecraft. Dynastic survival and India’s tranquillity depended upon an emperor’s mastery
         of the arcane arts of political fixing; he gave or withheld patronage, he bargained with lesser princes, and played ambitious
         courtiers, nobles and officials against each other. Shahjahan’s choice of Orpheus, the mollifier and enchanter, as a source
         of political inspiration was therefore very apt. It was also a very daring gesture, for the presence of a figure from pagan
         mythology above the imperial seat of power would certainly have made many of the emperor’s fellow Muslims uneasy.
      

      
      Like the Turkish and Persian empires, Mughal India was an Islamic state. It had, in 1700, an estimated population of about
         180 million, of whom at least two-thirds were unbelievers, mostly Hindus. Although the emperors enjoyed the title khalifa (Caliph), and with it a claim to be regarded by Muslims as successors to Muhammad, they could only govern with the co-operation
         of the Hindus. A policy of pragmatic toleration was adopted, but unevenly and in ways which never wholly satisfied the Sikhs
         of the Punjab or the Hindu warrior castes, the Jats of Rajasthan and the Marathas of the Deccan. Integrated within the Mughal
         system, these groups submitted grudgingly and were always ready to spring to arms if their faith appeared to be in danger.
         Aurangzeb’s policy of destroying Hindu temples during the suppression of insurrections in Karnataka and Rajasthan stiffened
         rather than reduced resistance.
      

      
      Ever since the genesis of the Timurid empire under Akbar the Great (1556–1605), dynastic survival had depended on genetic
         good fortune in the form of emperors who were forceful, energetic and skilled manipulators. This luck ran out with the death
         of Aurangzeb in 1707, and the empire passed into nerveless and fumbling hands. Even so, it would have required rulers with
         superhuman talents to have preserved an inheritance which was already beset by difficulties, let alone overcome the problems
         which raised themselves during the next sixty years.
      

      
      II
      

      
      The Mughal empire fell apart swiftly. In what turned out to be the final surge of Mughal expansion, Aurangzeb overstepped
         himself by undertaking a series of campaigns designed to extend and consolidate his rule in the Deccan and Hyderabad. They
         became a war of attrition which stretched imperial resources beyond their breaking point, and by 1707, after nearly twenty
         years of intermittent fighting, the empire was exhausted. There was no breathing space; an eighteen-month war for the succession
         followed Aurangzeb’s death. Moreover, the repercussions of the stalemate in central and southern India and the civil war were
         felt across the country. From the early 1680s onwards the Jats of Rajasthan launched a sequence of insurrections against oppressive
         taxation, seizing whole districts, occupying towns and, growing more audacious, were raiding the suburbs of Delhi by 1717.
      

      
      Strong men flourished as anarchy spread. It was a period of making and breaking as determined and ambitious men snatched at
         opportunities to enrich themselves and usurp authority. Imperial officials, increasingly isolated and starved of funds, found
         their loyalty withering and looked for ways to preserve and advance themselves in a suddenly mutable world. There were fortunes
         to be made among the wreckage of an empire which was cracking up, and success went to the cunning and ruthless.
      

      
      The adventures of Riza Khan, an Afghan professional soldier in the imperial service, may serve as a template for the stories
         of many others. In about 1700 he was appointed governor of Ramgir in the Deccan, but found his entry barred by his predecessor.
         Riza, a determined and resourceful figure, gathered extra men and entered the town by force, and turned it into a private
         power base. Turning his back on an emperor who was no longer able to reward his servants, Riza decided to make his own destiny;
         he turned bandit and enriched himself by diverting imperial taxes into his own pocket and looting caravans. He prospered and
         attracted followers, men like himself who had been cast adrift in a violent and disorderly world and whose only assets were
         their wits and their swords. His horde grew, swollen by deserters, unpaid soldiers from other armies, and those whose livelihoods
         had been destroyed by war and brigandage. Within six years Riza Khan was the leader of 10,000 freelances and an important
         piece on the chessboard of local power politics. His services were sought and obtained by Mughal officials in Hyderabad, once
         to help run down another bandit. He might have ended his life as a landowner, perhaps the founder of a dynasty, but his luck ran out in 1712 when he was tricked, taken prisoner and executed by a new governor.5

      
      Others were more fortunate. Daud Khan Ruhela, another Afghan and the alleged son of a slave, made himself the master of a
         cluster of villages in the region north-east of the old imperial capital, Agra. It was an area where Akbar the Great had encouraged
         Afghan settlement in the sixteenth century, no doubt with an eye to swelling the numbers of his Muslim subjects. Daud Khan
         proceeded in what was becoming the classic manner for ambitious freebooters: he first hired himself and his brigands to another
         man on the make, a local zamindar, and then picked up property and helped himself to imperial revenues. Playing a double game
         with the Raja of Kumaun, he came unstuck, was captured and tortured to death in 1720. It was onwards and upwards for his adopted
         heir, Ali Muhammad Khan, who showed a remarkable virtuosity in switching alliances and, as his estates and prestige grew,
         meddling in the intrigues of the imperial court. When he died in 1748 he was the dominant figure in the constellation of petty
         Ruhela states which had emerged over the past thirty years and now stretched from the foothills of the Himalayas southwards
         across the Ganges valley to a line between Delhi and Agra. Princes deferred to him; the Raja of Garwhal paid him 160,000 rupees
         (£21,600) a year in protection money, and he was deeply engaged in the factional strife at court.6

      
      One of Ali Muhammad Khan’s greatest opportunities had come in 1739–40, when a Persian army under Nadir Shah invaded India,
         defeated the Emperor Muhammad at the battle of Karnaul and then occupied Delhi. The city was thoroughly plundered, its inhabitants
         massacred and, in a gesture which combined cupidity with political symbolism, the Peacock Throne was carried off to Persia.
         While Delhi was in chaos, Ali Muhammad Khan engrossed a handful of parganas (imperial tax districts). Like every other predator on the loose in India, his motive in acquiring imperial revenues was
         a mixture of greed and political acumen. By encroaching on imperial rights, India’s new masters transformed themselves into
         the heirs of the emperor.
      

      
      By the mid-eighteenth century the self-made heirs of the Timurid emperors had changed the political map of India. New polities
         had appeared: the large states of Mysore, Hyderabad, Awadh (Oudh), Bengal and the Maratha principalities of Deccan. There
         was also a body of looser political units formed by the Ruhelas, the Sikhs of the Punjab and the Rajputs of Rajasthan. The
         masters of both the larger and smaller states behaved as independent rulers and presented themselves to their subjects as the legitimate successors of the Mughals. These
         ‘lesser Mughals’ upheld all the administrative codes and practices of traditional imperial government, particularly and for
         obvious reasons those concerned with the imposition of taxes.
      

      
      And yet, curiously, India’s arriviste princes continued to treat the emperor’s person with customary respect and reverence long after his real power had evaporated.
         Even after 1784, when he became the virtual prisoner of the Maratha prince, Mahadji Scindia, his captor insisted that he was
         merely a ‘servant’ of the emperor. Although little more than ornaments, the Timurid emperors were still the sole source of
         legitimate political authority within India. They had none themselves, but they could be induced to bestow it on others, which
         was why nobody wished to get rid of them.
      

      
      Mughal traditions and culture set the tone in all the new states. Ali Muhammad Khan was the patron of poets and musicians.
         Like the emperors, he generously endowed mosques and had a mausoleum built in his capital, Aonla (south-west of Bareilly),
         which is still an object of veneration.7 Murshid Quli Khan, Nawab (governor) of Bengal, who delicately balanced his duties as a Mughal agent in the province with establishing himself as its
         effective ruler, followed imperial custom by renaming its capital, Murshidabad. It was embellished, at his expense, with a
         splendid, five-domed mosque. Hindu princes also imitated Mughal munificence by founding temples and building palaces in the
         Mughal style with audience halls, private apartments and elaborate gardens. Former Mughal artisans and artists were employed
         in all these enterprises; humble men, like great ones, had to follow where advantage led them.
      

      
      III

      
      One of the most ominous features of the power struggles which accompanied the collapse of Mughal power was the willingness
         of contestants to enlist external help. In the early 1740s the warring princes of Karnataka sought and gained military assistance
         from the British East India Company and the French Compagnie des Indes and paid for it by assignments of land and taxation.
         The four invasions of northern India by the Afghan ruler Ahmad Shah Abdali (1748, 1749, 1751 and 1757–61) revealed a variety
         of collaborators who were willing either to remain neutral or provide him with fighting men, whichever best suited their private interests. During the final incursion, Safdar Jang, the Nawab of Awadh,
         offered the Afghans lukewarm support,while Najib-ud Daula, an Afghan and former imperial commander, supplied them with Ruhela
         troops. He did so partly to further his own ambitions and partly because he knew the Ruhelas could only overcome their enemies,
         the Marathas, with Afghan backing. They did so at the decisive battle of Panipat in January 1761, which opened the way for
         Najib to secure the position of regent for the Afghan-nominated, puppet emperor Shah Alam II. It might be added that before
         the battle the Maratha peshwa (prince), Balaji Baji Rao, had attempted a deal with the East India Company, offering land in exchange for batteries of artillery
         and European-trained gunners.8

      
      Although adding to India’s chronic instability and the sum total of its people’s suffering, the Afghan and Persian invasions
         were no more than smash-and-grab raids. Neither Nadir Shah nor Ahmad Shah Abdali had the inclination to supplant the Timurids,
         although the Afghans temporarily occupied the Punjab. Their interventions did, however, swell the numbers of professional
         cavalrymen who sold themselves to the highest bidder or, when unemployed, lived off the peasantry. In some cases, these parasites
         followed the example of those who hired them, and hoisted themselves up in the world to become zamindars. Armies were also
         a burden on those who could not survive without them, and participants in India’s civil wars were often driven to borrow heavily
         from bankers to finance their campaigns. The peshwa, Balaji Baji Rao, faced mutinies by unpaid soldiers and once complained
         of his creditors, ‘I am falling at their feet, till I have rubbed the skin from my forehead.’ His successor borrowed fifteen
         million rupees (over £2 million) between 1740 and 1760, on which he was forced to pay interest of between 12 and 18 per cent.9 The spiral of debt helped make war self-perpetuating, for it compelled princes to seek new sources of income through conquest
         and plundering raids. Maratha princes ‘invited’ into Rajasthan by local magnates in the 1730s, ostensibly to settle local
         disputes, used the opportunity to levy a form of protection money.
      

      
      The Indian economy as a whole did not suffer unduly from the upheavals which accompanied the disintegration of Mughal power.
         Agricultural production proved resilient; warfare was localised and never continuous; and, mercifully, the first half of the
         eighteenth century witnessed no large-scale famines. There is evidence of growth, such as the colonisation of new lands, although
         the population was increasing slowly. Nonetheless, chronic disruption occurred in the regions adjacent to Delhi, which suffered more than elsewhere because they
         were transformed into a cockpit in which, at different times, Persian, Mughal, Jat, Ruhela and Maratha forces did battle.
         The city’s population fell, as did that of Agra, and elsewhere fragile economic structures were damaged by marauders. Maratha
         raiders burned mulberry bushes in the Birghum district, damaging the local silk industry.10

      
      Localised anarchy hindered the exchange of goods. Throughout this period the British, French and Dutch trading companies grumbled
         about the losses they suffered from an upsurge in brigandage and coastal piracy. The East India Company’s embassy to the Emperor
         Furrukhsiyar, with its cumbersome baggage train containing sumptuous bribes for him and his courtiers, needed a 450-strong
         escort in 1714. This would have been a reasonable precaution at any time, but it was insufficient to deter bandits between
         Patna and Benares (Varanasi), who had to be bought off with various gifts, including horse pistols and magnifying glasses.11 There were complaints, too, about princes asserting their new independence, like the ‘impertinent and troublesome rajahs’
         who imposed levies on goods passing down the Ganges.12

      
      With valuable trade at stake, Europeans naturally attempted to keep track of India’s power struggles. It was not easy; one
         East India Company agent in Madras admitted that it was impossible to follow exactly the serpentine manoeuvres of the princes
         of Karnataka in the 1730s. And yet from what he and others could discover, they were able to identify the key to success in
         the hurly-burly of Indian politics. It was a perpetually full purse, for experience showed that the individual Indian soldier
         would only follow a prince with well-primed coffers and when unpaid he would happily switch sides, even in the middle of a
         battle.13 Once the British and French companies had taken the plunge and intervened actively in the local wars, their officers quickly
         realised how profitable it could be to play kingmaker. News of rich pickings travelled fast. Writing from the Cape and en route for Madras, Alexander Campbell told his parents in April 1748 that he had every chance of ‘making a fortune . . . in a few
         years’. He dreamed of staying in India as an officer in the Company’s new army, to ‘try my luck’.14

      
      This young Scot had expectations in common with those Indians of similar temper who had been trying their luck in various
         ways for the past forty years. One who came out well from the political free-for-all was the ruler of the small hilltop town
         of Mandawa, in the rolling countryside of Rajasthan. He may well have been a superior sort of Rajput zamindar and he certainly possessed considerable self-esteem, for
         he built himself a fortified palace which, in design, if not scale, resembles those of greater princes.
      

      
      Around the palace are clustered the houses of his officials – in all likelihood their master gave them Mughal titles such
         as diwan (treasurer). The exterior walls and courtyards of their houses are decorated with brightly coloured and lively murals which,
         one assumes, reflect something of the pretensions of their overlord. In them he rides on richly caparisoned camels and elephants
         to make war or hunt. His soldiers also appear: the cavalry armed with lances are probably Maratha or Afghan mercenaries; the
         infantrymen carry tulwars (curved swords) and matchlocks and wear red jackets. For this reason, the local guides mistakenly
         identify them as East India Company sepoys. The error is understandable: from the later years of the eighteenth century onwards
         some Indian rulers dressed their soldiers in red jackets in the belief that this colour possessed talismanic powers, which
         would make those who wore it fight as well as the Company’s troops. This change in military fashion was more than a princely
         foible; it was a mark of a new and momentous shift in the balance of power within India.
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      A Glorious Prospect:
Robert Clive’s Wars,
1740 – 55

      
      
      I

      
      The life of Robert Clive might easily have been the plot for a picaresque novel by, say, Defoe or Smollett. The scapegrace
         youth leaves England to make his fortune in India and in the process gets into all sorts of scrapes. He extricates himself
         by displaying hitherto dormant energy, courage and an ability to turn every situation to his advantage. Clive’s would not
         have been a moral tale, and eighteenth-century readers would have been hard pressed to discover any virtues within his character
         beyond patriotism, and this was offset by guile, ruthlessness and rapacity. In sum, he was temperamentally well suited to
         play a decisive role in Indian politics during the years of Mughal decline.
      

      
      Clive was nineteen when he disembarked at Fort St George, Madras, in June 1744. He was a writer, a junior tally clerk, and,
         like many of his colleagues, came from a minor gentry background. He had been, not unusually for one of his birth, a harum-scarum
         schoolboy, but he had some preparation for his future career at a business school in Hemel Hempstead. As a younger son, he
         had to make his own way in the world, and clerking for the East India Company was an honourable occupation in which he could,
         if lucky, make himself a man of independent means. Whether he did or not, his family was relieved of the burden of supporting
         him, although it had to find two men willing to pledge £500 for his good behaviour and further sums for his voyage out and kit. The bill for a junior officer’s clothing and household utensils came
         to just under £140 in 1781.1

      
      Mettlesome, short-tempered and prone to depression, Clive was not happy pushing a pen, but his urge to help himself and his
         family was sufficiently strong to enable him to overcome his boredom and periodic fits of gloom. The boy who, allegedly, had
         clambered up the steeple of Market Drayton church and defied the world sitting astride a weathercock, resolved to steel himself
         to his humdrum duties and make the best of things. If he escaped the rigours of the climate and the local microbes, and large
         numbers of aspirants did not, Clive stood a good chance of returning home with enough capital to live as a gentleman. This
         was what Sir Archibald Forbes had in mind when he wrote a Polonius-like instruction to his son, who joined the Company at
         the same time as Clive. The youth was to show: ‘Fortitude . . . courage and Resolution to encounter Danger, perform all duties
         to God and man and bear with pain and trouble.’ If he conducted himself in this manner, a ‘Glorious prospect’ lay ahead of
         him.2 The lure of India was therefore one of enrichment, but as matters stood in the early 1740s, this could only come as a result
         of making money from trade. First, the Company’s employee undertook what was in effect a five-year apprenticeship as a writer,
         and then moved up the ladder to become successively a factor, a junior merchant, a senior merchant, a councillor and, finally,
         a governor. Salaries were not high, but men holding senior posts were free to trade on their own account.
      

      
      The East India Company was one of those enterprises which floated on what Defoe had called the ‘unbounded Ocean of Business’,
         a sea which encompassed the whole globe. Britain lay at the hub of a thriving, expanding and highly complex system of international
         trade. ‘Our ships are laden with the Harvest of every Climate,’ wrote Joseph Addison in 1711. ‘Our Tables are stored with
         Spices, and Oils, and wines: Our Rooms are filled with Pyramids of China, and adorned with the workmanship of Japan: Our morning’s Draught comes to us from the remotest Corner of the Earth: We repair our Bodies by the Drugs of America, and repose ourselves under Indian canopies.’3 The scope and benefits of British commerce were advertised, appropriately, on the tomb of Sir William Baker, a London merchant,
         who died in 1770 and was buried among the fashionable in Bath abbey. Above the confident inscription ‘Orbis Terrarum Felicitas’ is a carved panel on which the symbolic figure of London, an elegant female classically draped and crowned with a battlemented
         tiara, receives the tribute of America and Asia. The first, a naked boy, offers a beaver, from whose skins hats and fortunes were made. Asia is represented by a tur-banned Indian who steps over an elephant’s tusk and
         leads a camel laden with panniers.
      

      
      The contents of the camel’s pack may well have been Indian textiles, the bales of cottons, calicoes, muslins and chintzes
         which young Clive marked up in his ledger. His employers paid their shareholders with the profits from cargoes of these fabrics,
         pepper, indigo and spices, which were unloaded at the East India Company’s Poplar dock, and, in many cases, reexported to
         the Continent and North America. Since the late seventeenth century, when the Company had opened up direct trade with Canton,
         it had added fine chinaware, silks and tea to its imports. The British taste for the latter proved insatiable and, by 1744,
         annual sales of china tea were worth £348,000. Chinese and Indian products were bought for silver, which had been earned by
         Britain’s trade with Europe and the New World.
      

      
      The Company traded in a fiercely competitive world. ‘Our trade,’ Defoe had written in 1727, ‘is the Envy of the World, and
         they are conspiring to break in upon it, either to anticipate it, or block it out.’ Not only was the prosperity of the nation
         at stake, but the stability of its ordered society. ‘The poor would eat us up’ if Britain’s international trade collapsed.4 Defoe was defending the current economic dogma, mercantilism, which laid down that the world’s trade was finite and that,
         in consequence, the commercial powers would find themselves in perpetual conflict over raw materials and markets. Monopolies
         in both were the sole basis for national prosperity.
      

      
      II

      
      No one country had a monopoly on India’s trade. The principal competitors for its business were the British and French companies,
         with the overstretched Dutch in third place and slipping. The Portuguese, who had opened up Indian commerce in the early 1500s,
         were out of the race, and two newcomers, the Danish and Ostend companies, were soon exhausted. By contrast, the East India
         Company had kept up a steady pace since its foundation at the very end of Elizabeth I’s reign. It had acquired trading bases
         at Madras in 1639, Bombay in 1664 (as part of the dowry presented by Catherine of Braganza to Charles II) and Calcutta in
         1696.
      

      
      As its interests grew, the East India Company’s profits spiralled. In 1701 an anonymous pamphleteer claimed that: ‘The cheapest things are ever bought in India. . . . Manufacture may be had there for two Pence [1p], as in England for a shilling [6p].’5 Even with transport costs and customs duties, there was a wide margin for profit, especially on imported textiles. As a result,
         in 1718 English weavers complained that:
      

      
      
         Every jilt of the town

         
         Gets a callicoe gown;

         
         Our own manufact[ur]es are out of fashion.6

         
      

      
      British and European demand for cheap calico, chintz bedspreads and hangings, silks, fine china and tea kept the price of
         East India stock high. During the first half of the century its annual dividends were between 6 and 8 per cent. In the two
         decades before Clive’s arrival in Madras, the yearly value of imported Indian and Chinese goods averaged £1 million, and in
         1744 the Company had even been able to loan the government £1 million.
      

      
      The beneficiaries of this success were largely men of substance. There were just under 2,000 stockholders, the majority of
         whom lived in Britain, although there were some foreign, mostly Dutch, investors. The Company deliberately encouraged holdings
         of more than £500, which qualified the shareholder to a vote at the annual meeting at its headquarters in Leadenhall Street
         for the election of the directors. Policy-making, therefore, was in the hands of that elite which dominated the country’s
         commercial and political life.7 More than a third lived in London and the Home Counties, and so a typical investor of Clive’s time was a Kentish or Surrey
         equivalent of Fielding’s Squire Allworthy. His investment would have been worth between one and two thousand pounds, and in
         all likelihood he was a figure of eminence in his county, who voted in Parliamentary elections and perhaps sat for the shire
         or a local borough. The opinions and interests of such men counted for something in the world, for they were the natural partners
         of the nation’s rulers, that small knot of great landed aristocrats who filled the ministries of the first two Georges. A
         Company which could lend money to the government and whose investors carried political clout was well placed to procure political
         favours. In 1730 its support in the House of Commons had been strong enough to see off a challenge from Bristol and Liverpool
         merchants who wanted to break into its monopoly of India’s trade.
      

      
      The Compagnie des Indes was less fortunate in its connections and never enjoyed the same financial security as its rival. It had been formed in 1719 by the merger of three other French Asian
         and Far-Eastern concerns, each of which had a history of under-funding and mismanagement. Like its forerunners, the Compagnie
         never secured the capital needed to match its pretensions, although it somehow produced an annual profit of about £1 million
         during the 1730s. Its assets, acquired between 1674 and 1740, were Pondicherry, its headquarters, and subsidiary trading stations
         at Chandanagar on the Hughli, Yanam at the mouth of the Godvari, and Mahé and Karaikal on India’s south-west coast. Lines
         of communication with France were secured by the occupation of the islands of La Réunion and Mauritius, where work began in
         1735 on a naval base at Port Louis to which French men-o’-war could retire to escape the autumnal monsoons.
      

      
      Inside France, the Compagnie had few influential friends. Its capital was mainly concentrated in the hands of its directors,
         who were under official supervision. The prospects of Indian trade never captured the imaginations of French investors in
         the same way as it had their British counterparts. French investment flowed to the sugar islands of the Caribbean and North
         America, and it was in these regions that the government intended to enlarge and consolidate its colonies. Moreover, in some
         quarters there was hostility to trade with India: the peasantry feared an influx of Indian food, and textile manufacturers
         protested against imports of cheap Indian fabrics. On one occasion Indian cloth was publicly burned, an early example of what
         would become a traditional French reaction to foreign competition.8

      
      For all that its agents had achieved in India, the Compagnie seemed destined to remain in second place to the East India Company.
         To escape this fate and avoid stagnation, the Compagnie needed to find a source of capital which did not depend upon the whims
         of French investors or the unpredictable fluctuations of trade. One was available: the rights of taxation which went with
         the ownership of territory. If the Compagnie could accumulate territory it would acquire a reliable source of revenues from
         the customary imposts levied on the Indian peasantry. It might also, and this was a tempting but still distant prospect, lay
         the foundations of a French empire in India. What today’s businessmen would call diversification seemed the only way ahead,
         despite the objections of the directors in Paris who wanted the Compagnie to stick strictly to what it had always done. The
         men on the spot were more venturesome. They had their fortunes to make and they knew local conditions and how best to exploit
         them. Geography was their most valuable ally: a decision taken by the governor in Pondicherry in February 1747 was relayed
         by a letter which reached Paris by the end of the year and was approved in January 1748. The directors’ sanction reached Pondicherry in August
         1748.9 This was an extreme example of the length of time messages took to reach their destination, but even in the most favourable
         conditions a letter sent from India to either Paris or London might take six to seven months to deliver.10 Distance gave enormous power to local officials, enabling them to take decisions which could not be officially repudiated
         for at least nine months, probably longer.
      

      
      What amounted to a free hand to the men on the spot was of vital importance as events unfolded during the 1740s. It allowed
         servants of both companies to act as they saw fit in the knowledge that their masters had no means of checking them until
         long after the event, by which time local circumstances might have changed radically. At the same time, and this too was highly
         important given that after 1744 Britain and France were engaged in a global war, the men in India were ignorant of developments
         on other fronts. They were, in effect, their own masters with a licence to devise strategies which best served the interests
         of their respective countries and employers. In exercising this liberty, the agents of both companies never forget that they
         had come to India to make their own fortunes and they shaped their policies accordingly.
      

      
      III

      
      In the summer of 1740 Raghuji Bhonsle’s Maratha army swept across Karnataka. It defeated the forces of the nawab, Dost Ali,
         and roamed across the countryside, looting, raping and murdering. Refugees poured into Pondicherry, and its governor, Benoît
         Dumas, defied Raghuji, who withdrew rather than assault a city defended by fortifications built in brick and in the most up-to-date
         European style. Dumas’s gesture raised French prestige in India. It was a straw in the wind, as were two minor engagements
         between Maratha cavalry and detachments using European weaponry and tactics. At Bahur a small party of musketeers routed twice
         their number of horsemen with volley fire, and rapid artillery and musket fire from the Dutch fort at Sadras scattered another,
         far larger body of Marathas.11

      
      Dumas’s tough line was part of a new and still evolving strategy, designed to elevate France’s standing among the local princes
         and to cultivate their friendship and so acquire territory and revenues. This policy was already paying off; in 1739 Chandra Singh, kinsman of Dost Ali, had presented the French with the port of Karaikal as
         a reward for aid in his war against the Raja of Tanjore (Thanjavur). Dumas retired at the beginning of 1742 and was replaced
         by Joseph François Dupleix, a man of dynamic energy who combined ambition, cupidity, anglophobia and belligerence in roughly
         equal parts. He was forty-six, from bourgeois stock, and, like Clive, may have been driven by an urge to prove himself in
         the eyes of a distant and dismissive father.12 Whether or not this was the mainspring behind his actions, Dupleix saw India as a treasure house from which he could help
         himself while simultaneously promoting the interests of France and his employer. His greed was contagious; his accomplices,
         Charles-Joseph Bussy, Jacques Mainville and Jean-Louis Gonpil, all helped themselves to the taxes which the governor was channelling
         into the Compagnie’s coffers. For Dupleix these misdemeanours were ‘petites affaires’, not worth bothering with.13 Rumours of how much individual Frenchmen were making from Dupleix’s enterprises filtered through to their British counterparts
         and naturally aroused envy and emulation.14

      
      In defence of his actions, Dupleix once observed that his ultimate objective was ‘la domination française dans l’Inde’, which may explain why his enemies considered him a megalomaniac. He understood, better than most of his contemporaries
         in India, how local dynastic rivalries and power struggles between states might be exploited. But before the Compagnie could
         barter military assistance for land, it had to demonstrate that its soldiers were unbeatable. Quite simply, French soldiers
         and sepoys trained and led by French officers had to defeat British as well as princely armies.
      

      
      The chance to show the Compagnie’s military muscle came in the autumn of 1744, when the news reached Pondicherry that Britain
         and France were at war. Intelligence was also received that a formidable British naval squadron was heading for the Indian
         Ocean. Dupleix had no choice but to propose a local truce, a suggestion which was welcomed by the governor of Madras, who
         was all too aware of the weakness of the city’s defences and the smallness of its garrison. The new Nawab of Karnataka, Anwar-ud
         Din, fearful that his province might become a battlefield, insisted that both companies kept the peace. There were no constraints
         on the commanders of British men-o’-war, who attacked French shipping in the Indian Ocean; in September 1745 the Compagnie’s
         China fleet was taken off the Malayan coast, yielding £92,000 in prize money.
      

      
      The companies could no longer hope to stand aloof from the global war. During the winter of 1744–45, Bertrand Le Bourdonnais,
         the Governor of Mauritius, had been building up and training a scratch squadron of French merchantmen, stiffened by a ship of
         the line. This force gave Dupleix the wherewithal to launch a land and sea attack on Madras, which fell after a half-hearted
         defence in September 1746. Soon afterwards, a monsoon storm sank two of Le Bourdonnais’s ships and dismasted the rest. The
         crippled flotilla limped back to Mauritius for repairs and the balance of sea power swung back in Britain’s favour. Backed
         by Royal Navy warships, the garrisons of Fort St David and Cuddalore were able to beat off French assaults in December 1746
         and March 1747.
      

      
      In the meantime, Anwar-ud Din had taken the field, ostensibly to forestall the attack on Madras and so demonstrate his authority
         in Karnataka. His army, 10,000-strong and commanded by his son, Mahfuz Khan, collided with a force of 230 Europeans and 700
         sepoys led by a gallant and daring engineer officer, Captain Louis Paradis, near Saint Thomé at the beginning of November.
         Formed up in lines, the French troops fired a conventional musket volley and then charged their adversaries. Unnerved by this
         novel form of attack, the Indians crumbled and fled with their general, mounted on an elephant, making the pace. Paradis’s
         men gave chase and added impetus to the rout by firing further volleys into the flying men. This spectacular victory, secured
         so quickly and against what seemed overwhelming odds, astounded everyone. Thinking of the Turks, a British officer remarked
         that hitherto Muslims had always enjoyed a reputation as formidable warriors, but the small French force had ‘broke through
         the charm of this timorous opinion by defeating a whole army with a single battalion’.15 It soon became axiomatic that European leadership, soldiers, weaponry and tactics were infinitely superior to Indian. A Royal
         Navy officer who witnessed engagements at Fort St David, Cuddalore and Pondicherry concluded that Indians ‘are ill-calculated
         for war, and except when they are led on by English with other Europeans, seldom make any great figure in the field’.16

      
      Another lesson emerged from the war: sea power held the key to success on the Indian battlefield. Lack of it had frustrated
         Dupleix’s campaigns and made possible a British counter-attack on Pondicherry in the summer of 1748. The Royal Navy now enjoyed
         complete command of the seas, thanks to a squadron of thirteen battleships and twenty smaller vessels under the command of
         Rear-Admiral Edward Boscawen, which had hove to off the Coromandel coast in July. Dupleix had nothing with which to challenge
         this fleet. In May 1747 a sixteen-strong squadron, bound for Pondicherry, had been intercepted and largely destroyed by Admiral
         Lord Anson off Cape Finisterre. So long as the British dominated the Atlantic, France’s Indian, and for that matter West Indian
         and North American possessions, could expect only intermittent and fragmentary help from home. Nonetheless, Pondicherry withstood
         a seven-day bombardment and, on the approach of the monsoon, British land and sea forces pulled back. In January 1749 news
         reached India of the signing of the preliminaries of the treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle. Not long after, the representatives of
         the two companies heard that nothing was to be changed in India; bargaining for boundaries and strongholds in the Caribbean
         and North America had been the chief concern of the peacemakers.
      

      
      IV

      
      It had been a hard fight under the walls of Pondicherry. The besiegers had shown, in the words of a recently arrived young
         officer, ‘all the conduct and courage that men could do’.17 Among those who conspicuously distinguished himself was Robert Clive. In a war that had been undertaken by hastily improvised
         armies, command had been almost entirely in the hands of former clerks who, like Clive, learned the art of war on the march
         and on the battlefield. He was an adept pupil, who quickly revealed bravery and a knack of winning the obedience and devotion
         of Indian soldiers. Once, in the forward trenches, Clive found himself isolated with a none-too-steady platoon which was about
         to receive a French sally. He rallied his men by reminding them of the honour and glory they were about to win. The result
         of his harangue was reported by an eyewitness:
      

      
      
         All the company’s troops had an affection for this young man, from observing the alacrity and presence of mind which always
            accompanied him in danger; his platoon animated by his exhortation, fired again with new courage and great vivacity upon the
            enemy.18

      

      
      The volley brought down twenty of the French and sent the survivors scrambling back to their emplacements.

      
      Incidents like this enhanced Clive’s growing reputation as a cool-headed, self-confident commander who led by example from
         the front. A public emergency had released hidden talents in a young man, who had hitherto been regarded as ‘a very quiet
         Person’ with, as he frequently admitted, a distaste for his dull existence as a tally clerk. War gave him excitement and, since he was good at it, satisfied
         his craving for admiration. This was the age in which a man’s honour and public standing were closely bound to his ability
         to display courage, that indispensable virtue of a gentleman. It also mattered to Clive that soldiering would bring him rewards
         far richer than those he could have expected from pen-pushing. As events turned out, he was soon in a position to fulfil deeply
         felt obligations to his family in England and, at the same time, make himself wealthy. So long as he grasped at the opportunities
         which were now emerging, Clive could only move upwards.
      

      
      Dupleix and the Compagnie had come out of the war badly. The Royal Navy and British privateers had inflicted losses which
         totalled £750,000, and the value of the Compagnie’s stock had fallen to a tenth of what it had been in 1741.19 A financial crisis, possibly bankruptcy, could only be averted by making the Compagnie a territorial power rather than a
         commercial enterprise. Desperate to recoup recent losses, Dupleix redoubled his efforts and raised his sights; by mid-1749
         he was preparing to make the Compagnie the kingmaker of southern India. The East India Company had been invigorated by the
         war which had reinforced its garrisons and placed a powerful fleet at its agents’ disposal. The Company could afford to be
         truculent and in June 1748 the directors ordered that, if the Nawab of Bengal proved refractory in trade negotiations, he
         was to be reminded that George II
      

      
      
         having the Protection of the Company greatly at heart, as they [the directors] may perceive by the Strong Force he hath sent
            to the East Indies to chastise the French for their Insolence at Madras, His Majesty will support the Company in whatever
            they think fit to do for their further Security.20

      

      
      The fleet was in fact used to assist Company forces invited into Tanjore by its deposed raja, Shahaji, who had appealed for
         help at the end of 1748. Once restored to his throne, he promised to hand over the port of Devikott together with an annual
         revenue of between ten and twelve thousand pagodas (£40–£48,000). The Madras council agreed, with strong support from Boscawen,
         and a short and far-from-easy campaign followed in which Clive’s conduct was again praised. The port and the annuity (the
         raja could only manage £9,000 a year) were welcome, and by extending its influence over Tanjore, the Company strengthened
         its commercial position. The upheavals of the 1740s, particularly the Maratha incursions, had severely disrupted the production
         of the handloom weavers of the hinterland on whom the Company depended for cotton. Obviously any measure which encouraged
         them to remain in the same place was welcome, and once the Company gained physical control of an area it was free to eliminate
         Indian middlemen and deal directly with producers.21

      
      Further north, Dupleix was engineering the overthrow of the Nawab of Karnataka, Anwar-ud Din, and his replacement by a French
         stooge, Chandra Singh. In August 1749 the nawab was killed and his army trounced at the battle of Ambur where, again, a larger
         Indian army was overcome by a smaller one using European weapons and tactics. The thankful Chandra gave the commander, Louis-Hubert
         D’Auteil, an annual grant of 4,000 rupees (£640) and doled out 75,000 rupees (over £10,000) to his soldiers, who had already
         taken their pick of the treasure abandoned in Anwar’s camp, which was thought to be worth three and a half lakhs of rupees
         (£38,500).22

      
      Dupleix now turned his attention to making his ally, Muzafar Jang, ruler of the Deccan. This was achieved by yet another victory
         against overwhelming odds, this time roughly ten to one, at Velimdonpet in December 1750. Even the French commanders were
         stunned by what they had witnessed. Bussy described it as: ‘A victory which no one could believe possible in Europe.’ Chandra’s
         gratitude was boundless: gifts and grants of land were showered on French commanders, with Dupleix picking up £77,500 and
         a jagir (annuity) worth £20,000. Lesser men got lesser presents: 400,000 rupees (£64,000) was distributed among the 5,300
         soldiers according to rank and, at the end of the pecking order, the Compagnie picked up two lakhs (£22,000).23

      
      Muzafar was murdered by Pathan mercenaries on his way to his capital, Hyderabad, so Bussy had his uncle, Salabat Jang, installed
         as nizam (ruler). For this service he received another handsome subvention. In just over eighteen months, Dupleix had made himself
         the power broker of southern India, secured a substantial land revenue for the Compagnie and, according to Madras gossip,
         engrossed for himself £200,000. It was not entirely a one-way traffic; Dupleix distributed various gifts to his Indian allies,
         including telescopes, glasses and French tapestries. Salabat and Chandra had hoped to receive portraits of their new, distant
         patron, Louis XV, and his family, but Dupleix could not obtain them. He was now a high-ranking Mughal official, having been
         declared Salabat Jang’s subadar (lieutenant) throughout the southern Deccan. And yet his achievements were illusory; sudden and often temporary switches of fortune were commonplace in India during this period of political flux, and there was
         no way of knowing for how long Dupleix and his protégés would enjoy their power undisturbed. Moreover, his masters in Paris
         were horrified by what they regarded as reckless gambling. In September 1752, the Controller-General of Finances vainly reminded
         him that ‘we want only some outposts to protect our commerce: no victories, no conquests, only parity of merchandise and some
         augmentation of dividends’.24

      
      By now Dupleix was engaged in a proxy war with the East India Company. It had refused to tolerate a French puppet in charge
         of Karnataka, able to impede, perhaps throttle, vital trade with the hinterland. Pretenders were plentiful in mid-eighteenth-century
         India and one, Muhammad Ali, the son of Anwar-ud Din, was on hand and glad to take whatever the Company would offer him. He
         had fled to Trichinopoly after his father’s death and in May 1751 Chandra Singh began a campaign to evict him. The siege of
         Trichinopoly opened a contest between himself with his French sponsors and the Company for the control of Karnataka.
      

      
      The departure of Boscawen’s squadron at the end of 1749 restricted the Company to land operations which, for the next four
         years, were undertaken to expel the French and their stooges from the hinterland of Madras. The immediate tactical objective
         in 1751 was the relief of Trichinopoly and the release of Muhammad Ali. Since the army encircling the city outnumbered the
         Company’s forces, only one option was open: a diversionary coup against Arcot, the capital of Karnataka. Leading an army of
         200 white troops and 600 sepoys, Clive surprised Arcot on 1 September. It was undefended, for the garrison had run off after
         its commander lost his nerve on hearing the reports of his spies, who had described a foreign army marching calmly and resolutely
         through a monsoon thunderstorm. Despite having gained a psychological advantage, Clive’s situation was extremely tricky, for
         while he had been presented with Arcot’s well-stocked arsenal, its inhabitants were malevolent neutrals. As the Company’s
         soldiers marched into the city, a sergeant observed how they passed through ‘a millaion Spectators whose looks betrayed their
         traytours notwithstanding their pretended friendship and dirty presents’. Humble Indians, like their princes, understood the
         arts of duplicity. Almost immediately, Arcot was encircled by a 10,000-strong Franco-Indian army and the same NCO calculated
         that there were at least 2,000 of Chandra Singh’s secret sympathisers lurking in the city, all ‘willing to cut our throats
         had not that their dastardly spirits hindered them’.25

      
      
      Clive responded to the enemy within and without the city by keeping both on their toes and never losing the initiative. His
         adversaries, at first short of suitable artillery and poorly commanded by Chandra’s son, Raja Sahib, were continually surprised
         and demoralised by sudden forays, sometimes at night. An attempt to batter down the main gate with elephants with spiked iron
         plates on their heads failed when they were peppered by musketry. Enraged by pain, the pachyderms turned round and trampled
         their escorts and the waiting assault troops. Elephants were the unfortunate accessories to Indian warfare then and for the
         next hundred or so years but, as Clive quickly realised, they were a double-edged weapon in a pitched battle. Wounded or frightened
         by the noise of gunfire, they naturally tried to escape, charging down those who had brought them to the battlefield.
      

      
      The siege of Arcot lasted fifty days, during which Clive and his men resisted bribes, threats, bombardment and assaults. Losses
         were heavy, with the Company’s strength down to 240 in the final phase of the siege. On 14 November a small relief force arrived,
         commanded by Major James Killpatrick. Without pausing, Clive went on to the offensive. Reinforced by 600 horse under Morari
         Rao, a Maratha chief with whom he had made a secret alliance, Clive harried Raja Sahib’s army and turned its retreat into
         a rout.
      

      
      The siege of Arcot was destined to become an imperial epic, one of those symbolic moments of empire when heavily outnumbered
         British forces refused to give up, first defying and then driving off their assailants in apparent contravention of all the
         laws of war. Heroic sieges punctuated the history of the British in India. Arcot, Jalalabad, Lucknow and Chitral entered imperial
         mythology as shining examples of the discipline, doggedness and steady courage of the British race. In the later examples
         those who manned the ramparts were presented as the defenders of order and civilisation and their strongholds were breakwaters
         around which surged the waters of chaos and barbarism. It was strangely appropriate that a siege marked the foundation of
         the Raj.
      

      
      Arcot deserved its fame. It was a turning point in the fortunes of the British, for it had revealed that the French were not
         invincible. Clive’s reputation as a natural leader soared to new heights, and rightly so; he had displayed almost superhuman
         stamina, an ability to think on his feet and that quality which Napoleon desired most in his generals, luck. This amateur
         soldier had established two principles which would be followed by the professionals who succeeded him as commanders of British
         armies in India. The first was audacity at all times; whenever a tactical choice existed it was best to take the most daring alternative,
         for it was commonly believed that Indian fighting men were always discountenanced by the unexpected. When Indians were under
         British orders, it was essential that they learned to respect and admire their white officers. A magic touch was needed to
         transform the sepoy into a tiger, for the experience of the 1740s and 1750s seemed to indicate that the Indian soldier was
         instinctively timid. Clive saw more deeply into the sepoy’s psychology and realised that he possessed both courage and a sense
         of duty, which could be aroused by showing him how to be brave. Time and time again, Clive deliberately took risks under enemy
         fire to encourage his men. They responded and called him ‘sabit jang’ – steady in battle.26

      
      After Arcot the tide of the war turned slowly in Britain’s direction. Bussy’s incursion into Maratha lands in 1751 had gone
         awry after his opponents had harassed his supply lines. Most importantly, an Anglo-Indian army was capable of beating a French
         one, and the lesson was punched home repeatedly during 1752 and 1753 by Clive and the Company’s new commander-in-chief, Colonel
         Stringer (‘The Old Cock’) Lawrence. He was a veteran of wars of the Continent, Culloden, and the Indian campaigns of 1747–48.
         Versatile and without the professional’s customary arrogance towards the amateur, Lawrence recognised Clive’s value and helped
         instruct him in the finer points of soldiering. The pair proved irresistible, winning a sequence of small-scale actions during
         the first half of 1752 which finally broke the siege of Trichinopoly and sealed the fate of Chandra Singh, who was captured
         and beheaded at the orders of his old foe, the Raja of Tanjore.
      

      
      French power in Karnataka was now falling apart, but neither side had gained a decisive advantage. A stalemate ensued in which
         Dupleix found himself unable to sustain his pretensions. The Compagnie was after his blood, for he had dragged it into a conflict
         which it had not wanted and which it now seemed unable to win. His resignation had been demanded in 1752, but he ignored the
         summons home in the hope that he might still snatch some irons from the fire. He found none and grudgingly accepted the inevitable,
         leaving Pondicherry in October 1753. He had no regrets for what he had done: ‘Je trouve des contrariétés partout, mais mon courage et ma fermeté ne sont point alterés: ma confiance est toujours dans la
            Providence.’ Dupleix was able to face personal setbacks in comfort; it was estimated that he returned to France with £200,000. He had
         overreached himself as a politician, but had the consolation of knowing that he had raised French prestige in India. Three years after his departure, it was reported that the Bengalis ‘look upon [the French] as an enterprizing people
         with more of the spirit of the soldier than the merchant in them’.
      

      
      VI

      
      Dupleix’s replacement, Charles Godeheu, a Breton merchant and director of the Compagnie, arrived in Pondicherry with powers
         to bring the fighting to an end. He did so in January 1755, in an agreement which provided a breathing space during which
         the antagonists prepared for the next round. The scope of the conflict was widening, since both companies had appealed to
         their governments for assistance in what was becoming a struggle for political and economic supremacy in southern India. In
         the spring of 1755 the British Cabinet approved the despatch of a squadron of three men-o’-war under Rear-Admiral Charles
         Watson to the Indian Ocean. On board one ship were regular soldiers of the 39th Regiment and a detachment of artillery.
      

      
      The ships and the men were a token of the British government’s willingness to support its trade against France. Their appearance
         in India marked a new phase in an Anglo-French arms race which had begun four years before. The Compagnie had procured over
         4,000 men in four years, recruiting French, Swiss, German, émigré Irish and Polish mercenaries as well as prisoners from the
         Paris gaols. The East India Company was trawling British slums and lock-ups for extra men; a band which disembarked at Madras
         in 1752 were described by an onlooker as ‘the refuse of the vilest employment in London’. Whatever their origins, these men
         were transformed into units which were making a considerable impact on the Indian consciousness. A young Armenian recalled
         his reactions on first seeing European troops, probably Swiss, drilling in Calcutta in the early 1750s. ‘There I saw the Fort
         of the Europeans and the Soldiers Exercise, and the shipping and that they were dexterous and perfect in all things.’ Events
         to the south were proving that even small numbers of such fighting men could dominate campaigns in which, one officer noted,
         a platoon could have as much if not greater influence on a battle than a whole battalion in Europe.
      

      
      Tactical deployment and greater firepower were not the only reasons why millions of men and women in Karnataka and the Deccan
         were gradually passing under British and French control. They did so because of the faults of their rulers. In their analyses of what was happening, the men-on-the-spot repeatedly stressed what they considered
         were the inadequacies of character shared by the Indian ruling class. ‘Honour is never a principle which governs the actions
         of Orientals,’ concluded Dupleix, although to judge by his actions he would have been hard pressed to define virtue. Bussy
         agreed, reminding his countrymen that to succeed they would have to surpass the Indians in dissembling. ‘Among a people as
         doublefaced as are those with whom we have to deal, to show only straightforwardness and probity is, to my thinking, only
         to be their dupe, and we shall inevitably be that if we do not conform to the usages of the country.’
      

      
      British observers concurred, adding further shortcomings to the moral character of the Indians. ‘The governments of Indostan
         have no idea of national honour in the conduct of their affairs’ wrote Robert Orme, who was both eyewitness to and historian
         of events in the 1740s and 1750s. The fault lay in the upbringing and moral outlook of the Indian aristocracy:
      

      
      
         The vain notions in which they have been educated inspire them with such love of outward show, and the enervating climate
            in which they are born render them so incapable of resisting impulses of fancy, that nothing is so common than to see them
            purchasing a jewel or ornament of great price, at the very time that they are in the greatest distress of money to answer
            the necessities of government.
         

      

      
      Orme’s explanation of why Indian princes were unfit to rule proved to be the first paragraph in a dismal compendium in which
         successive British commentators detailed the waywardness and follies of an élite that was almost universally regarded as incapable
         of ruling efficiently or fairly. He offered a diagnosis of India’s malady which, seen from the perspective of Karnataka in
         the 1750s, was perfectly valid. No cure was recommended, nor was it required, since Orme’s employers did not see themselves
         as India’s future rulers with a mandate to unseat the fickle and self-indulgent. The Company was still solely concerned with
         securing conditions in which it could continue its business without interruption or coercion.
      

      
      In doing this the East India Company and its French counterpart joined the ranks of the powerful predators at large in mid-eighteenth-century
         India. They were welcomed by their Indian allies who had quickly learned that small numbers of European and European-trained
         soldiers could tip the balance on the Indian battlefield. The pay-offs individual commanders were coming to expect were an enticement to the adoption of belligerent policies: what might be called the power-brokers’
         fees made Dupleix and his lieutenants rich men. The British seem to have done marginally less well, although Clive was said
         to have taken £40,000 with him when he sailed for England in October 1753, which was enough to propel him into the ranks of
         the politically active gentry. After paying off £6,000 of his parents’ mortgage and buying a town house in Queen Square, Ormonde
         Street, he laid out £5,000 for a seat in Parliament. This sum purchased thirty of the fifty voters of the Cornish rotten borough
         of Mitchell, but Clive’s election was overturned by a petition to the Commons. Not that Clive would have taken his seat in
         the chamber, for the Company had appointed him deputy-governor of Fort St David with the promise of the governorship of Madras,
         and George II had given him the local rank of lieutenant-colonel. He was back in India in October 1755, aware that a war between
         Britain and France was imminent.
      

      
      Clive’s ascent from rags to riches was a powerful incentive for other men on the spot to meddle in Indian affairs whenever
         the chance occurred, irrespective of whether or not their actions benefitted the Company. Of course, it could always be argued,
         and it was after the event, that the acquisition of land and political power meant higher returns in the long run. By establishing
         what amounted to protectorates over Tanjore and Karnataka, the Company was free to impose stringent conditions on internal
         trade which were designed to increase its profits. Within twenty years of Arcot, the Company was dictating how the weavers
         of southern India organised production and systematically squeezing out Indian investors and entrepreneurs. Having been delivered
         from the depredations of Maratha horsemen, the artisans of Karnataka found themselves at the mercy of the Company’s agents.
      

      
      The nawab could not help them, even had he wished to, for he owed his throne to the Company’s army. In less than ten years,
         and encouraged by a knot of persuasive, self-seeking officials like Clive, the Company had discovered that a felicitous combination
         of war and trade was making it richer and more powerful. There was no way of knowing where this new course would lead and,
         equally, no way of guaranteeing that by following it the Company would continue to prosper. A few, siren voices in London
         predicted an eventual disaster of the kind which had overtaken the French. They were ignored in India, where the Company servants
         were now dreaming of the fortunes which were the rewards for audacity and shrewdness.
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      New Strength from
Conquest: Bengal,
1755 – 65

      
      
      
      I

      
      Bengal was the richest, most fertile and densely populated region of India. No one was sure how many people lived there. Counting
         Indians was an innovation of British rule, and to begin with it was undertaken in a rough and ready manner. Clive conjured
         up the figure of fifteen million, which was far too low. An official and well-informed guess of 1801 estimated the total population
         of Bengal as about forty million, over four times that of Great Britain.1 The figure may have been higher in the 1750s, for it was calculated that a fifth of Bengalis had perished in the great famine
         of 1769–70. Most Bengalis were ryots, peasant farmers with varying sizes of holdings and degrees of status, who lived in villages.
         They, together with landless labourers and artisans, occupied the lower reaches of a dynamic and thrusting society. At the
         top were the zamindars and a growing class of Hindu bankers, merchants and entrepreneurs who were celebrated for their enterprise
         and shrewdness. Newcomers to India were warned to be wary of Calcutta’s banias, money agents with a keen nose for profit who could easily outwit inexperienced young Britons.2

      
      There were three sources of power within Bengal which co-existed more or less harmoniously during the first half of the century.
         The power of the sword was exercised by Murshid Quli Khan and his successors. His had been a typical success story of the
         years of Mughal decline; an imperial governor, he transformed his province into a private domain while maintaining all the outward forms of deference
         to the emperor in Delhi. Creating a new state was an expensive business, and Murshid and his son, Alivardi Khan, needed the
         co-operation and loans of Bengal’s second power, its bankers and proto-capitalists. The third power in Bengal was the East
         India Company which, under the generous terms of the firman (edict) granted in 1717 by the Emperor Furrukhsiyar, enjoyed extensive commercial privileges. Most prized were the dastaks, certificates which gave the Company and private merchants operating under its umbrella exemption from all levies on goods
         passing from district to district. These concessions, granted by a moribund empire to a private company, were an affront to
         the nawabs’ sovereignty which deprived them of revenues and hurt native traders.
      

      
      The Company was jealous of its rights and regarded the growing number of protests about their misuse as tiresome quibbles.
         In the end it did not matter how the rules were applied, for the governor and councillors in Calcutta, in common with their
         countrymen everywhere, were convinced that they had a God-given right to trade where and how they liked. For an eighteenth-century
         Briton any restriction on legitimate commerce was tyrannical, and the forcible removal of hindrances, even when they had the
         power of local law, was perfectly justifiable. This logic, which combined motives of profit with a conviction that the natural
         rights of Britons travelled with them to every quarter of the globe, had led to a war with Spain in 1742. A major clash with
         the Nawab of Bengal was therefore unavoidable.
      

      
      By the mid-1740s relations between the Company and Alivardi Khan were taking a turn for the worse. More was at stake than
         legal interpretations of the firman. As the Company’s economic penetration of Bengal gathered momentum, the nawab was forced
         to consider the political implications for a Muslim state whose roots were still shallow among a predominantly Hindu population.
         Alivardi died in April 1756, bequeathing his anxieties to his grandson and heir, Siraj-ud Daula. The 21-year-old nawab was
         determined to engineer a showdown with the intruders which would confirm his supremacy throughout Bengal. He was ill-equipped
         for the task: resolute by starts, he was easily disheartened and his fickle vindictiveness lost him friends among his courtiers
         and more powerful subjects. He did not, for instance, help himself by threatening forcibly to convert and circumcise leading
         members of the Hindu banking oligarchy.3

      
      
      Siraj’s greatest error was to misjudge the resources and determination of his adversary. This mistake was forgiveable given
         the remarkable ease with which his troops occupied the Company’s bases at Kasimbazar and Calcutta during the summer of 1756.
         The one-sided war had been the consequence of the Company’s refusal to stop strengthening the defences of Fort William, work
         then being undertaken in expectation of a war with France. This challenge was contemptuously dismissed by Roger Drake, the
         governor in Calcutta, who went so far as to remark that he could easily overthrow Siraj if he continued to make trouble.4 This was empty bluster from a coward who lacked the muscle to carry out his threats. Kasimbazar was guarded by a polyglot
         rabble largely untrained in arms, and Calcutta had neglected to send replacements for its worm-eaten gun carriages. Fort William
         was also weakly defended; in 1753 its arsenal had contained only 200 serviceable muskets and its garrison of twice that size
         was largely made up of Swiss mercenaries of fragile loyalty.5

      
      Kasimbazar surrendered and Calcutta was taken on 20 June in circumstances which combined farce with tragedy. On the approach
         of Siraj’s army, Drake and a handful of officers took flight to the ships anchored off shore. In the meantime, the leaderless
         and disheartened garrison took to the bottle.6 During the night of 20–21 June, an unknown number of Siraj’s prisoners were herded into a small room where over half suffocated
         during a hot and airless night. For the British, ‘the Black Hole of Calcutta’ was an atrocity which demanded vengeance and,
         on one level, the events of the following year could be interpreted as the punishment of a brutal autocrat. In fact, no one
         was certain how many were crammed into the Black Hole and how many perished. Estimates vary between 100 and 200 incarcerated
         and between 40 and 140 dying. Siraj may not have been directly responsible, and one Indian writer has blamed the incident
         on Eastern ‘negligence, indifference and inefficiency’.7 This explains but does not excuse: by the same token the deaths of sixty-seven Mapillas (Malabari Muslims), stifled in railway
         cars in 1921, was the consequence of Western incompetence. It might well be added that neither Siraj nor the British authorities
         in Malabar were unduly disturbed by what had happened.
      

      
      The loss of Calcutta was a signal blow to the Company’s prestige and temporarily overturned the myth of European invincibility.
         It disappointed those Bengal Hindus who had secretly hoped that Siraj might get a bloody nose from the British.
      

      
      News of the disaster reached Madras on 16 August. There was no question that a counter-offensive had to be launched to recapture
         Calcutta and bring Siraj to heel. Delivering it was an unwelcome distraction from the task then occupying the minds of the Madras authorities:
         a campaign in partnership with the Marathas to extinguish all French influence in the Deccan. The recovery of Calcutta took
         precedence and an expeditionary force was mustered of 600 white soldiers and 900 sepoys who were conveyed to the port by five
         warships. Command was placed in the hands of Clive and the local senior naval officer, Admiral Charles Watson, a straightforward
         sailor of impeccable character who found himself dominated by his more forceful and devious partner. Both men hoped to profit
         from the expedition, but Watson shrank from compromising his integrity by playing politics in the Indian fashion.
      

      
      II

      
      Clive had no such inhibitions and complete freedom of action. His mandate from the Madras council was to reoccupy Calcutta
         and restore all the Company’s trading concessions. No one was yet clear just how this could be achieved, although Watson imagined
         that, once he had been ‘well thrashed’, Siraj would toe the line. Before he could be taught his lesson, it was imperative
         to expel his garrison from Calcutta, which was achieved with little bloodshed on New Year’s Day, 1757. By then, if not before,
         Clive had convinced himself that the Company’s trade in Bengal could only be truly safe when Siraj had been dethroned and
         replaced by a puppet nawab. The means to carry out this coup were at Clive’s disposal; he had men-o’-war, including two ships
         of the line, and a well-trained army. This force would soon have to withdraw to engage the French, and so it was necessary
         to strike immediately. The alternative was to leave behind a wounded and therefore dangerous tiger; so long as he occupied
         the throne of Bengal, Siraj was free to take his vengeance on Calcutta, possibly with French assistance.
      

      
      For the next six months Clive threw himself into organising what he and the council in Calcutta afterwards called a ‘revolution’.
         It was a consummate exercise in chicanery in which Clive was abetted by two colleagues, Luke Scrafton and William Watts, men
         of quick wits and elastic conscience, who acted as emissaries to Siraj. The nawab had been taken aback by the speed of the
         Company’s reactions and the strength of its forces, although the fighting which followed the recovery of Calcutta had been
         indecisive. Realising that he may have bitten off more than he could chew, Siraj grudgingly agreed to make peace in February. He was probably no more sincere in his professions of goodwill than
         Clive, but for the time being he had to tread carefully. Large Afghan forces were operating in the Punjab and might strike
         south-east into Awadh and Bengal, and therefore he was glad to hear that George II and the Company were now his friends and
         would come to his rescue if his lands were invaded. British soldiers and ships could not render this service without first
         capturing the French base at Chandanagar, and so Siraj was persuaded to stand back and permit it to be taken in March.
      

      
      Siraj had been gulled; it now remained for him to be ensnared and dethroned. Shedding whatever scruples they may have had,
         Clive and his accomplices proceeded swiftly and with serpentine cunning. During April and May they cobbled together an alliance
         of influential Bengali dissidents, all of whom had much to gain from Siraj’s deposition. At the heart of the conspiracy were
         Bengal’s leading money men, the Sikh merchant Omichand, and the two brothers who headed the Jagat Seth (merchants of the world)
         banking house. Bengal’s commerce relied heavily on the silver with which the Company paid for its goods and, so long as the
         province was ruled by a prince at loggerheads with the British, their company and fortunes were in danger. There was also
         an alternative nawab, Mir Jafar, a nobleman and one of Siraj’s senior commanders. All the plotters were to have their rewards:
         Mir Jafar would get a throne, the European community in Calcutta would receive £550,000 for property looted by Siraj’s army,
         the Hindu community £222,000, the Armenian £77,000, the army and navy £275,000 and members of the Company’s council £275,000.
         Omichand set a high price on his co-operation and got it according to a bogus agreement on which Clive had faked Watson’s
         signature. This piece of legerdemain was a victory of guile over greed, although in the eyes of Clive’s enemies it was a disgraceful
         example of an Englishman dropping his own moral code and embracing that of the Orient.
      

      
      Clive knew that he, as a council member and commander-in-chief of the Company’s land forces, would rake in the lion’s share
         of the compensation, not to mention whatever customary gifts that might have come his way from the grateful Mir Jafar. He
         also knew that there was no intrinsic dishonour in merging his own interests with those of his country and employer. The age
         in which he lived allowed its public men the right to grow rich through their service to the state, although there was, as
         Clive would soon discover, much disagreement as to where the line between public and private interest should be drawn. He
         sincerely believed that in all his decisions he had achieved a proper balance and was therefore beyond reproach, and yet there can be no question that
         he was well aware that he would be the chief British beneficiary from the coup and, like everyone else involved, expected
         to leave Bengal a richer man.8

      
      With the agreement signed, Clive was ready to pounce. The plot required a battle in which Siraj would be defeated by a combination
         of the Company’s army and defectors from his own led by Mir Jafar. Clive had about 3,000 troops and sailors, two-thirds of
         them sepoys who marched from Kasimbazar. The white fighting men travelled by boat, the better to preserve them from fevers
         and the sultry midsummer heat. Against them Siraj had 50,000 men, many unpaid and disgruntled.
      

      
      The two armies collided at Plassey on 23 June and a battle followed which, by European standards, was little more than a skirmish,
         and a messy one at that. Much of it was taken up by an exchange of cannon fire in which the Bengalis came off worst. They
         had massive twenty-four and thirty-two pounder pieces, each mounted on platforms dragged by forty or fifty yoke of bullocks
         and nudged into position by elephants. Their transport proved the gunners’ undoing, for three elephants were killed and the
         rest became ‘unruly’. The oxen, too, were terrified by the fire and stampeded, taking their drivers with them.9 If this was not enough, one observer noticed that the Indian gunners seemed clumsy and once accidentally set alight their
         own powder barrels, which exploded and added to the pandemonium. All this was watched by Mir Jafar, who, judging the moment
         right, sent a message to Clive warning him of his imminent defection. The trouble was that Clive was unaware of where Mir
         Jafar’s contingent was placed and had already accidentally bombarded his troops. The fire was so hot that the messenger refused
         to cross the lines. In the end, the bungling on both sides did not matter; Siraj’s hesistant army disintegrated and took to
         its heels, with the nawab leading the way on a camel.
      

      
      He was eventually taken and stabbed to death by the servants of his successor, Mir Jafar, who seems to have imagined that
         Clive would have asked for him to be spared. This exercise in king-making had cost few lives: British casualties were only
         seventy and ‘those chiefly blacks’, according to Clive’s report to the directors.10 No one counted the dead Bengalis, but a rough and probably exaggerated estimate put them at about 500.11

      
      III
      

      
      No one who had taken part in the battle of Plassey imagined for a moment that it had marked a turning point in British and
         Indian history. For them it was merely a solution to a local problem: the future security of the Company’s operations in Bengal.
         It also offered a means of dealing with another problem, the French, as Clive pointed out in his despatch to the directors
         written in August. With Mir Jafar’s cash in the Company’s war chest, the balance of power in southern India would swing further
         against the French. In Bengal the Company was henceforward free to trade as it wished with the blessing of a grateful nawab.
         It was this aspect of Plassey which George II’s poet laureate, William Whitehead, had in mind when he wrote in 1759:
      

      
      
         If protected Commerce keep

         
         Her tenor o’er yon heaving deep,

         
         What have we from War to fear?

         
         Commerce steels the nerves of war:

         
         Heals the havoc Rapine makes,

         
         And new strength from conquest takes.12

         
      

      
      There were distant political gains as well, vaguely discerned by Clive, who told the directors that they now possessed the
         ‘power to be as great as you please in the kingdom of Bengal’.13

      
      Plassey’s significance became apparent only with hindsight. In 1823 the compiler of the East India Military Calendar, following what was already a standard line of imperial mythology, detected the hand of Providence at work. Clive and his
         brother officers had behaved ‘as if decreed by fate to erect the British standard in the East’.14 As that flag advanced, the battle assumed a symbolic significance; in the words of one Victorian schoolroom text, Plassey
         laid ‘the foundation of the British empire in India’.15 Another historian was more emphatic: ‘In 1757 the English had established their dominion of India by their conquest of Bengal.’16 And yet, strangely given the Raj’s obsession with public monuments, no attempt was ever made to distinguish the site of Plassey.
         By 1800 much of the battlefield had been washed away by the adjacent Bhagrithi river and all that remained of the village
         was ‘a few miserable huts’. Eighty years later, when the Raj was enjoying its heyday, the whole area had reverted to jungle.17

      
      Just as well, many Indians may have thought, for the battle marked the beginning of an era of alien government and the disturbance of ancient habits and customs. Plassey was also an uncomfortable
         reminder that there had been many Indians, especially from the country’s élite, who willingly collaborated with the intruders
         and helped them win this and many subsequent victories. Their behaviour was evidence that at a crucial moment in their history
         there had been no ‘national’ sentiment among Indians, a fact which nineteenth- and twentieth-century nationalists frequently
         deplored.
      

      
      And yet, Plassey assumed a supernatural significance for some Hindus as the starting point of a predestined historical cycle
         that would take a century to run its course. The Muslim, Mughal Raj had been supplanted by a British one, which would last
         exactly one hundred years according to predictions found in some obscure Hindu scriptures. Then, reassuringly, a Hindu Raj
         would emerge to rule India. Rumours of this upheaval were current during the early 1830s and their circulation increased in
         the years immediately before 1857.18 The sepoy mutiny at Meerut on 10 May 1857 and the sudden collapse of the Raj in northern India was naturally taken as a fulfilment
         of the prophecy. Its new potency was exploited by the insurgent leader, Nana Sahib, who chose the precise anniversary of Plassey,
         23 June, for a major assault on the residency of Cawnpore (Kanpur).
      

      
      After the Indian Mutiny, even the most improbable seditious prophecies were taken seriously by the authorities. Official nerves
         were on edge during 1906–07, when a spate of nationalist agitation coincided with the fiftieth anniversary of the Meerut uprising.19 The 150th anniversary of Plassey had not been forgotten and the ex-Viceroy Lord Curzon was soliciting contributions for Clive
         memorials in London and Calcutta. His successor, Lord Minto, was dismayed and asked, ‘How would Bengal in these stormy days
         look upon a monument to Clive coupled with Plassey?’20 As wormwood was the answer, Minto scotched a project which would have raised tension everywhere in India. Meanwhile, Curzon
         was badgering Indian princes for subventions, reminding the Maharaja of Bikaner that money offered in Clive’s memory was a
         token of loyalty to Britain.21 In the space of 150 years, Plassey had become, in turn, a glorious victory which established the Raj; a source of hope for
         those who longed for its collapse; and finally an embarrassment to its rulers.
      

      
      IV

      
      On 23 June 1763, the sixth anniversary of Plassey, a handful of traders and army officers gathered at the Company’s factory
         (business premises) at Patna for a commemorative dinner.22 They had much to celebrate, for Plassey had been a key which had opened a treasure house whose contents they were now pillaging.
         The past six years had been quite literally a golden age, during which the Company’s servants had scooped up the riches of
         Bengal. The bonanza began with delivery of the compensation promised by Mir Jafar and the gifts he made to those who had engineered
         his elevation. Then there were the land taxes extracted from the Bengali ryots, whose parganas (tax districts) had been ceded
         to the Company and which, in time, would provide it with the means to buy goods with cash raised in India, rather than imported
         silver. Lastly, and most importantly for the men on the spot, were the new and lucrative openings in the huge internal commerce
         of Bengal.
      

      
      The inland trade of Bengal had always been minutely regulated by the nawabs, who allocated monopolies to individuals and consortiums.
         With Mir Jafar’s accession, the system of state control fell apart under pressure from private traders seeking quick profits.
         The salt, betel-nut and opium concessions attracted the sharks who identified them as offering the best returns. Henry Vansittart,
         who followed Clive as Governor of Bengal in 1759, made the running and was later charged with abusing his authority to get
         the biggest possible share of the province’s trade. Warren Hastings, resident at the court of Mir Jafar at Murshidabad, presided
         over a large-scale venture dealing in salt, opium, tobacco, timber and boat-building which had a capital of £30,000 and employed
         five Europeans. It was calculated that he and other predator entrepreneurs were making over £500,000 a year by 1760.
      

      
      The methods of these men were brutal. They and the Hindu and Armenian merchants who were their factotums used coercion to
         dominate markets. The sword intruded into everyday business life, for the more ruthless commodity dealers encouraged their
         gumastahs (Indian clerks and business agents) to employ sepoys wherever pressure was needed to secure the best bargain. Competitors
         were scared off and unwilling suppliers or customers who objected to inflated prices were flogged.23 Vansittart noted with wry amusement that gumastahs, ‘who in Calcutta walk in rags’, once inland would ‘lord it over the country,
         imprisoning the ryots, and merchants, and writing and talking in the most insolent, domineering manner to the fougedars [rural policemen] and officers’.24 Minatory business methods were copied in southern India; in the early 1770s the native factor employed by Anthony Sadleir
         to buy cloth in the Vizagapatam district was accompanied by sepoys who beat those weavers who set what was thought to be too
         high a price on their goods.25 In Bengal, dastaks (tax exemption certificates) were liberally doled out to Indian and Armenian as well as British traders,
         some of whom flaunted their privileges by flying the Company’s flag on their boats.
      

      
      The three years of unbridled and systematic economic exploitation that followed the battle at Plassey proved mortal for the
         Bengal state. Its economy was in the hands of the Company and its servants; the nawab’s authority was circumscribed by a British
         resident; and Company sepoys garrisoned his cities. Mir Jafar’s impotence was demonstrated early in 1759, when Bengal was
         threatened by what turned out to be a halfhearted incursion by a Mughal army commanded by the emperor’s eldest son, the future
         Shah Alam II. Brushing aside Mir Jafar’s suggestion of buying him off, Clive led a force to Patna where he discovered that
         the young prince’s unpaid army had dispersed. Clive used this bloodless victory as the excuse to squeeze an annuity of £27,000
         a year from the nawab. Disdainful of the profits from trade being made by his more unscrupulous colleagues, he had been angling
         for an award of this kind for six months.26 The sum was to be paid from the revenues of parganas close to Calcutta, which Mir had previously allocated to the Company.
      

      
      By rewarding Clive with a jagir rather than the usual cash gift, Mir Jafar revealed the parlous state of his treasury. It
         had been drained by the Plassey pay-off and customs revenues were dwindling. Solvency, and with it a semblance of sovereignty,
         could only be secured by stemming the haemorrhage of Bengal’s wealth. In what turned out to be the first round in a struggle
         to regain independence, Mir Jafar demanded some curtailment of the commercial activities of the Company’s servants in 1760.
         Governor Vansittart refused to tolerate any challenge to the sacred right of the Company and its employees to trade as they
         wished, even though he was well aware of the abuses they committed. Clive’s puppet had, in the governor’s words, revealed
         himself as unfit to govern, being ‘of a Temper extremely tyrannical and avaricious at the same time very indolent and the
         People about him being either abject Slaves and flatterers, or else the basest Instruments of his Views’.27 Siraj-ud Daula had been vilified in almost exactly the same terms, and like him, Mir Jafar was deposed by the Company, this
         time without a fight. His successor, his son-in-law Mir Kasim, was described by one official as a ‘very enterprizing man of great abilities’, which may be interpreted as a tractable
         prince willing to do whatever he was told.28 Like the old, the new nawab was obliged to pay the power-brokers’ fees; Vansittart and a knot of councillors were believed
         to have pocketed at least £200,000.29 The Company’s reward for supporting Mir Kasim were the districts of Burdwan, Chittagong and Midnapur.
      

      
      Mir Kasim fell short of his patrons’ expectations. During the next three years, he prepared to reverse the verdict of Plassey
         and restore Bengali independence. He sorted out his finances and rebuilt his army, which he equipped with modern cannon and
         stiffened with 200 European mercenaries, mostly artillerymen. Mir Kasim also shifted his capital away from Murshidabad to
         Munger, where his activities were monitored by the hircarras (spies) supervised by Henry Lushington in Patna. During the first half of 1762 they reported, among other things, that the
         nawab was spending large sums on hiring Ruhela cavalry, had banned his subjects from dealing with British gumastahs and was
         waiting for news from Europe on the outcome of the war with France.30 His open hostility and preparations for war did not create undue alarm; rather there was complacency in Calcutta, where one
         official observed that the Company would depose thirty nawabs if it needed to and could profit by it.31

      
      The war opened in June 1763 with an underhand trick which went awry. While the Company was negotiating with Mir Kasim, officials
         in Patna undertook a pre-emptive coup de main against the city. What was easily gained was easily lost, thanks in large part to slackness and the unexpected difficulties
         of street fighting. The Patna garrison was evicted and its remnants were pursued across country with heavy losses. News of
         this reverse demoralised sepoys serving in the forces under Majors Thomas Adams and John Carnac, who were advancing on Murshidabad.32

      
      What Carnac called ‘this truly just and necessary war’ had to be won quickly and decisively in order to repair the damage
         inflicted on the Company’s prestige. He was an aggressive, confident officer with sufficient experience of Indian warfare
         to appreciate that silver counted as much as steel on the battlefield. As he approached Burdwan, he requested Vansittart’s
         permission to confiscate its ‘collections’ (tax revenues) and use the cash to entice unpaid soldiers away from the local raja’s
         army.33 For their part, his adversaries identified lines of communications as a weakness in an army whose commanders insisted that
         their men did not live off the land. Raids were therefore made against Carnac’s supply columns which, on occasions, had to
         fight their way through.
      

      
      
      Carnac’s and Adams’s brigades also had to endure cross-country marches in the hot season, often through flooded paddy fields.
         The enemy made a better showing than at Plassey, and after the engagement at Sooti on 2 August an astonished Carnac reported
         the ‘most obstinate resistance infinitely above whatever was made by a black army before’. At one stage, Afghan cavalry penetrated
         behind British lines and it was only the ‘coolness and intrepidity’ of Adams, who rallied the wavering 84th Regiment, that
         staved off disaster. Adams was a commander in the Clive mould, careless of his personal safety and indifferent to odds, whose
         nerve was vital in a crisis. ‘Good God! How much depends on the life of one man,’ Carnac wrote after one of Adams’s displays
         of audacity and coolheadedness.34 The strain proved too much and Adams died from the effects of his exhaustion on his way back to England to recuperate. Such
         men were desperately needed as the army pushed on towards Munger and Patna, and both officers and men became weary and disheartened.
      

      
      Patna was retaken by a night attack and Mir Kasim, having lost the initiative, fell back threatening to kill the prisoners
         taken during the retreat from Patna if the Company’s forces engaged him. He kept his word and the hostages were murdered in
         October, despite a warning from Adams that this act of savagery would assure his own destruction. In the new year, Mir Kasim’s
         fortunes seemingly revived when he was reinforced by soldiers of his allies, Shuja-ud Daula, the Nawab of Awadh, and the Emperor
         Shah Alam II. Lukewarm partners, the two princes’ troops enabled Mir Kasim to field an army of about 40,000, strong in Afghan
         cavalry and with modern cannon manned by European gunners; Carnac had been dismayed to find that captured guns had screw elevators
         of the most up-to-date kind which enabled them to be aimed more accurately than those deployed at Plassey.35

      
      In spite of these hurried innovations, the army of Mir Kasim and his allies was heavily defeated by a much smaller one commanded
         by Major Hector Munro at Buxar on 23 October 1764. It was very much a classic engagement of a kind which would occur across
         India during the next hundred years. On each occasion the ingredients of the Company’s victories were the same: iron discipline;
         the steadiness of its men, both Indian and European, in defence; and their ferocity when the moment came for a counter-attack
         with bayonet. Unflinching soldiers firing carefully timed volleys shattered cavalry charges at Buxar and broke the attackers’
         nerve. One described the line of sepoy infantry as a ‘wall which vomited fire and flame’.36

      
      V
      

      
      The consequences of Buxar were as far-reaching as at Plassey. It marked the final disintegration of the Bengal state, brought
         Awadh firmly into the Company’s orbit and was an additional blow to the standing of the Mughal dynasty, which was still reeling
         from the Afghan invasion of three years before. A power vacuum had been created which only the Company was rich and strong
         enough to fill. The political settlement was masterminded by Clive, who had returned to Calcutta as governor in May 1765 with
         instructions from the directors to stamp out corruption and devise an orderly system of government.
      

      
      Buxar made possible the last, for it gave him the opportunity to forgo what had proved to be the highly unsatisfactory procedure
         of picking a suitable nawab and then hoping that he would do as he was told. Clive was now able to deal directly with the
         emperor and secure his formal approval for a legally impeccable settlement which gave the Company absolute authority throughout
         Bengal. There was no question of Shah Alam II refusing; the emperor was a fugitive with an empty purse and therefore pleased
         to accept Clive’s offer of an annual tribute of £272,000 from the revenues of Bengal and also those of Allahabad and Korah,
         which lay inside Awadh. In return for solvency and security (Company soldiers were stationed close by his palace at Allahabad),
         Shah Alam II granted the Company the diwan of Bengal, Bihar and Orissa in perpetuity, giving it the sole right to collect
         taxation estimated to be worth approximately £33 million a year. Clive also secured the imperial imprimatur for his personal
         jagir (annuity) and concessions for the Company’s ally, the Nawab of Karnataka.
      

      
      There was still a nawab of Bengal, the sixteen-year-old Najm-ud Daula, whom the Company had installed as ruler with the by-now
         ritual distribution of bribes and presents to British officials. Henceforward, he and his successors would be ornamental ciphers
         whose trappings of state were paid for by Company pensions. Real power, that which came from free access to the taxes of Bengal
         and the day-to-day governance of the province, was in the hands of the Company.
      

      
      Looking back on these events nearly twenty years later, a Company official reminded the government that ‘we acquired our Influence
         and Possessions by force, it is by force we must maintain them’.37 It was a phrase which would be repeated in various forms until the last days of the Raj, and it contained much truth. It
         became an article of faith for generations of British officers of all ranks, who believed unquestioningly that armed force alone had been the foundation of the Raj and remained the guarantee of its survival in the face of external and
         internal threats. This assumption was more than an interpretation of history; it was the basis of a powerful claim by military
         men for their views to have paramountcy whenever questions of security were under consideration.
      

      
      It would be impossible to discount the value of the victories in Bengal. What might be called the stand-off at Plassey and
         the pitched battles of 1763–64 delivered the province into British hands and prepared the way for the political and economic
         penetration of Awadh. Quite simply, the Company’s army was better-trained, more inspiringly commanded and technically better
         equipped than its adversaries. Elsewhere, its achievements were equally impressive; despite some early hitches it overcame
         the French and their allies in southern India. Pondicherry fell in 1761 and four years later the new French governor, Jean
         Law, wrote despairingly: ‘The city was like another Jerusalem, razed to the ground, its walls overthrown, its houses destroyed
         and its inhabitants led to captivity.’38

      
      Unlike the Jews, the French never recovered from their Babylonian captivity. In 1764 the Compagnie’s debts totalled £12.2
         million and were increasing by the year as its trading losses rose. It was now just a commercial concern, for, by the terms
         of the Treaty of Paris signed in February 1763, the Compagnie had been allowed to keep all its former trading stations. But
         it was forbidden to indulge in politics, and to make sure it did not, its bases were to be unfortified and their garrisons
         severely limited. In 1776 Pondicherry was guarded by just over 200 white soldiers and 32 sepoys, a detachment equal to that
         which might have been stationed in some Company outpost in up-country Awadh. Although Clive still feared a recrudescence of
         French influence in India, possibly backed by a fleet sent from France, the Compagnie had been all but destroyed both as a
         political power and an economic force.
      

      
      What is perhaps most striking about the events in India between 1756 and 1765 was their pace and decisiveness. In less than
         a decade two formidable powers, the Compagnie des Indes and the state of Bengal, were knocked out of the political ring. Awadh
         had begun an irreversible slide into British control and a Mughal emperor had been driven to go begging to the Company for
         money and protection. The catalysts for these astonishing reversals of fortune had been a small band of what might be called
         private-enterprise imperialists, who had found themselves in a position to shape Company policy as they proceeded and were
         more or less free of any restraint from above.
      

      
      
      They had followed no pre-conceived plan, nor did any one of them justify himself with a vision of imperial destiny or mission.
         They were pragmatic, flexible men who reacted to events as they happened. Most significantly, Clive and those who followed
         his example were quite willing to adopt that moral elasticity vital to political success in India. All regarded themselves
         as patriots and were so, save that their sense of duty to their country was always tempered by what they would have considered
         enlightened selfishness. Private and public advantage proceeded hand in hand. Vansittart proclaimed that the Company’s interests
         were automatically those of Britain and it followed, at least by his logic, that by advancing them alongside his own, he was
         doing a favour for his countrymen.39 Clive thought along similar lines, arguing that his and his colleagues’ endeavours had created a new and extremely valuable
         national asset. In 1770 he reminded the Prime Minister, Lord North, of the considerable ‘annual advantages’ that now flowed
         into Britain from the rise in income from customs duties on Indian imports. The nation as a whole was benefitting from an
         injection of capital in the form of private fortunes, such as his own, and he warned that if these gains were somehow lost,
         there would be widespread ‘Accusation and Resentment’.40

      
      Britain’s new possessions in India were indeed generating plenty of accusations and resentments, but not the kind Clive had
         in mind. His countrymen were becoming disturbed by the often distressing details of how exactly this empire had been obtained,
         and were growing uneasy about how its possessions might undermine or corrupt what was called ‘the national character’.
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      An Empire Within an
Empire: British
Reactions to Indian
Conquests

      
      
      
      I

      
      Samuel Foote had a jobbing playwright’s knack of knowing what his audiences wanted. The bon ton of the early 1770s was obsessed by ‘nabobs’: the word was a corruption of nawab and was used to describe anyone who had come
         home from India with a fortune. Nabobs were arrivistes whose efforts to thrust themselves into fashionable society and politics were a source of amusement and indignation. Foote
         detected a market and responded to it with a comedy, The Nabob, which was first performed in Dublin’s Theatre Royal in November 1773. It was topical, rollicking stuff and enjoyed considerable
         success.
      

      
      The nabob of the title is Sir Matthew Mite, a brash vulgarian. Theatregoers would have immediately recognised features of
         Clive in his character and behaviour; he had been a scapegrace schoolboy whose misdeeds included throwing a barrow woman into
         the Fleet ditch and throwing a firework at a Methodist preacher, a prank for which he got someone else to take the blame.1 The scoundrel flourishes in India and, at the start of the play, we hear:
      

      
      
         Sir Matthew Mite, from the Indies, came thundering amongst us; and, profusely scattering the spoils of ruined provinces, corrupted virtue and alienated the affections of all the old
            friends to the family.
         

      

      
      Mite has two ambitions: first to win acceptance in elegant society, and secondly to purchase that ultimate token of social
         success, a seat in the Commons. His endeavours to assume the standing of a gentleman are ludicrous. A waiter teaches him to
         cast dice in the modish manner and instructs him in the ‘oathes and phrases that are most in use at the club’. He also wishes
         to cut a figure with men of learning and has been gulled into buying bogus antiques, which he intends to deposit in a national
         collection. They include: Falstaff’s corkscrew, Henry VIII’s nutcrackers and the toecap of the slipper worn by Cardinal Pandulf
         when he kicked King John. This Gothic junk impresses the ignoramuses of the Society of Antiquaries, who elect him a fellow,
         and Mite returns the honour with a donation of more curios, including a green chamber pot, allegedly the sarcophagus of Mark
         Antony’s coachman.
      

      
      There is a sinister side to Mite. He once confesses, ‘I have thoughts of founding in this town a seraglio,’ and adds that
         his odalisques will be guarded by ‘three blacks from Bengal’. He is warned against this scheme and pointedly reminded that
         imprisoning women was unthinkable and illegal ‘in a country of freedom’.2 Here is the central theme of the comedy: Mite has been seduced by the morals of India, a none-too-difficult process, given
         his character, and has returned determined to corrupt his fellow countrymen.
      

      
      Mite’s attempts to subvert common British decency provide the plot of the play. His plans to enter Parliament involve a challenge
         to Sir John Oldham, the impoverished but honourable head of an ancient family. At every turn, Mite behaves in an underhand
         manner. He has secretly taken over Oldham’s debts, which he promises to repay in return for the borough which he controls.
         He adds, impudently, that he will settle a ‘jaghire’ on Oldham; pay for the shipping of his two daughters to Calcutta ‘and
         there procure them suitable husbands’; and provide junior Company posts for their brothers. Faced with this bargain, Oldham’s
         brother-in-law complains, ‘No wonder that so much contrivance and cunning has been an overmatch for a plain English gentleman,
         or an innocent Indian one.’ Lady Oldham concurs: ‘With the wealth of the East, we have too imported the worst of its vices.’
      

      
      In the end Mite is frustrated through the intervention of Oldham’s brother, a merchant whose code of honour has not been contaminated by trade. He tells Mite that ‘corrupt as you may conceive
         this country to be, there are superior spirits living, who would disdain an alliance with grandeur obtained at the expense
         of honour or virtue.’ Lady Oldham warns that: ‘The possessions arising from plunder very rarely are permanent; we every day
         see what has been treacherously and rapaciously gained, as profusely and full as rapidly squandered.’ Mite is genuinely puzzled
         by the absence of any ‘gratitude of the country to those who have given it dominion and wealth’, a complaint which was echoed
         by Clive, among others.
      

      
      In essence, The Nabob is a tale of a knave whose moral infirmities have been made worse by his life in India. Sympathy is shown towards those Indians
         he has deceived, and throughout the author claims that Indian riches are tainted because they have been fraudulently acquired.
         Corruption is contagious, and the play strongly suggests that Mite and his kind are debauching domestic society and politics
         with vices endemic to India, but hitherto absent from Britain. Moreover, as The Nabob makes clear, gentlemen with pedigrees and pretensions were revolted by the entry into their world of a pack of crass nouveaux riches who not only aped their manners but could outspend them. Warren Hastings, who represented old money fallen on hard times,
         was keen to restore his family’s status, whatever the cost. When he purchased the manor of Daylesford in Gloucestershire,
         which his family had been forced to sell in 1715, he instructed his agent to ‘give as much for it as it is worth and if you
         give something more for it I shall not be sorry’.3

      
      There was little in The Nabob which would have shocked audiences. During 1772 and the first half of 1773, Parliamentary investigations were uncovering
         the methods by which the nabobs had made their fortunes. The country heard details of chicanery, double-dealing and extortion,
         which gave an added edge to blue-blooded jealousy. These revelations contributed to a widespread apprehension that a novel
         and unwholesome source of political power was on the rampage.
      

      
      Snobbery and fears about the moral and political pollution of the nation combined in Horace Walpole’s frequent outbursts against
         nabobs. In July 1773 he wrote:
      

      
      
         What is England now? – A sink of Indian wealth, filled by nabobs and emptied by Macaronis! A senate sold and despised! A country
            overrun by horse-races! A gaming, robbing, wrangling, railing nation without principles, genius, character or allies.
         

      

      
      He damned all nabobs as the spawn of Macheath, the highwayman antihero of The Beggars’ Opera, and once asserted that the arch-nabob Clive was the begetter of all Macaronis, Italianate fops who, it was whispered, indulged
         the ‘Italian vice’, as sodomy was then called.4 Walpole was the son of an earl and a dilettante who preferred an idealised Gothic past to what he considered to be a degenerate
         present, which partly explains the ferocity of his outbursts.
      

      
      There were two complementary issues at stake. The first was the possibly harmful impact of the nabobs on British political
         life, and the second concerned how far the British people were prepared to tolerate a despotism being exercised in their name
         in India. There had never been any objection in principle to nabobs buying Parliamentary seats in an age which accepted that
         wealth and political influence were synonymous. What upset contemporaries were the methods employed by nabobs seeking election.
         Like the fictional Sir Matthew Mite, they were men in a hurry and unconcerned with common political courtesies. They never
         bothered to cultivate constituencies and were indifferent to the feelings of those they had swept aside. It appeared, particularly
         to their victims, that the nabobs were behaving in Britain as they had in India. Furthermore, they were able to offer more
         than the going rate, either in bribes to voters or payments to the owners of rotten boroughs. The nabobs were making politics
         more expensive and this, above all, made them enemies among a political establishment whose wealth came from the ownership
         of land.
      

      
      By 1767, Clive, his cousin George (who had made £20,000 during the Plassey campaign), his friend John Walsh and two ex-governors
         of Madras had secured seats in the Commons.5 Thereafter, the numbers of nabob MPs rose steadily; there were twenty-six between 1774 and 1780 and forty-five between 1784
         and 1790, an increase which reflected the fact that during this period ultimate power over Indian affairs had passed from
         the Company to Parliament.6 Given that the total membership of the Commons was 558, nabobs were in a strong position to exert pressure on ministries
         whenever Indian legislation was under discussion.
      

      
      Parliamentary interest in India was focused on the conduct of the Company’s officials in India. Their behaviour was scandalous;
         according to a hack pamphleteer of 1773:
      

      
      
         Lacks and crowes [lakhs and crores] of rupees, sacks of diamonds, Indians tortured to disclose their treasure; cities, towns
            and villages ransacked and destroyed, jaghires and provinces purloined; Nabobs dethroned, and murdered, have found the delights
            and constituted the religions of the Directors and their servants.
         

      

      
      The government ignored these outrages at its peril, for if the Company was not bridled in time it would become ‘subversive
         of the Liberties of Englishmen, and creative of a set of tyrants’.7

      
      II

      
      The Company had become a sort of Frankenstein’s monster, out of control and capable of wreaking havoc both in India and Britain.
         In the revealing words of one of its directors, it was ‘an empire within an empire’, possessing vast resources and answerable
         to no one but its own shareholders.8 It was essentially an alien empire: it possessed no roots in Britain, unlike the American colonies whose people were of British
         stock and shared British liberties and traditions. Indeed, as Clive told the Commons in 1772, India was the antithesis of
         Britain in terms of its political system, its rulers’ moral code, and its peoples’ freedom:
      

      
      
         Indostan was always an absolute despotic government. The inhabitants, especially in Bengal, in inferior stations are servile,
            mean, submissive and humble. In superior stations they are luxurious, effeminate, tyrannical, treacherous, venal, cruel.9

      

      
      Clive was in a tight spot, forced to defend his honour to a House of Commons which had been stunned by the recent revelations
         about his activities in Bengal. The Company also had its back to the wall in 1772, having enjoyed a brief period of unprecedented
         prosperity which had been followed by an unlooked-for and potentially fatal slump. News that Clive had secured the entire
         revenues of Bengal sparked off what turned out to be an artificial boom based upon wild exaggerations of the province’s wealth.
         The price of Company shares rocketed and there was a period of giddy speculation between 1767 and 1769. The bubble was pricked
         by reports of the invasion of Karnataka by Haidar Ali and of the Bengal famine. After 1770, the Company was wobbling and fears began to grow that it might crash, particularly after it had
         been driven to seek short-term loans from the Bank of England. Anxious investors, fearing that another South Sea fiasco was
         imminent, turned to the government for a life-line.
      

      
      The financial crisis which seemed likely to break the Company placed it and Lord North’s ministry in a tricky position. On
         one hand, the government was confronted with demands for curbs on the Company’s activities in India and shadowy fears that
         somehow it posed a threat to national freedoms. On the other, it was conscious that by imposing restraints on the Company
         the ministry might stand accused of trampling on the rights of private property. The Company was, in the words of one of its
         champions, ‘a great corporate body’ with rights and privileges which had been granted by Parliament and, therefore, had the
         protection of the law. Its chartered liberties and possessions were sacrosanct, like those of the colleges of Oxford and Cambridge,
         the Church of England, and the civic corporations. Any infringement of the Company’s rights, even if undertaken for the best
         of reasons, was liable to be interpreted as a blow against the rights of property in general. Lord North had to tread carefully
         to prevent the issue of how the Company should be run from becoming a constitutional battle.
      

      
      Fortunately for Lord North, the Company had already made a token submission to the government. In the summer of 1766 the then
         Prime Minister Lord Chatham (William Pitt the elder) had secured the Company’s agreement to an annual subvention of £400,000,
         which, in theory, represented payment for the assistance rendered by the army and navy during the recent war. This sum was
         also a contribution to the costs of the Royal Navy, which was India’s first line of defence, and the small garrison of British
         troops that supplemented the Company’s army. The same principle was also being applied to the American colonies, where it
         provoked a storm of protest which led directly to the rebellion of 1775–76. The directors of the Company did not complain;
         they imagined that they had got off lightly, even though the annual payments turned out to be excessive. Chatham had also
         toyed with the idea of taking responsibility for the government of Bengal away from the Company and placing it in the hands
         of the government. This was too radical and the directors and their political allies denounced the plan as an attempt to engross
         the Company’s patronage, which was growing in direct proportion to the enlargement of its lands.
      

      
      
      The circumstances of 1772–73 made it easier for the Cabinet to intervene in the Company’s affairs. Its credit was dwindling
         and the value of its stock plummeting. The main source of its difficulties was the dramatic fall in income which followed
         the great Bengal famine of 1769–70. The province’s revenues had dropped to £174,300 in 1770–71 whilst overheads, such as the
         annual military budget of between £600,000 and £1 million, remained the same. Preoccupied with finding fresh sources of credit,
         the directors had to make the best bargain they could with a government which, in January 1773, obligingly sanctioned a Bank
         of England loan to the Company of £1 million.
      

      
      A further blow to the Company was the tarnished reputation of its servants, who were widely regarded as a pack of brutal bloodsuckers,
         guilty of what the Whig leader, Lord Rockingham, called ‘rapine and oppression’ in Bengal. This had been the conclusion reached
         by the Commons select committee, chaired by the playwright soldier General John Burgoyne (later famous for the Saratoga débâcle
         of 1777), after it had disentangled the events in Bengal over the past sixteen years. When it reported to the House, the committee
         asked for the ‘harmonising’ of the Bengal administration with ‘the principles and spirit’ of the British constitution.
      

      
      This demand was a landmark in Anglo-Indian history, in so far as it insisted that the Company’s Indian subjects deserved fair
         treatment and that the Company’s Indian territories were somehow within the pale of English law. This assertion was a reproof
         to those who had assumed that the Company was justified in perpetuating the cruel and despotic methods of the government it
         had inherited just because Indians had grown accustomed to them. No one would have gone so far as to argue that Indians were
         automatically entitled to the same consideration as Britons, but they did have a right to be governed honestly and benevolently.
         As a token of its concern for the legal rights of Indians, the government passed the Judicature Act of 1773, which established
         a Supreme Court in Calcutta whose judges were English jurists and from which appeals could be made to the Privy Council in
         London.
      

      
      The future administrative structure of the Company’s government was established by the 1773 Regulating Act. Like all compromises,
         it solved some problems and created others, but it did at least make absolutely clear the British government’s right to oversee
         and regulate the affairs of India. Calcutta became the seat of the Company’s administration and the Governor-General of Bengal
         henceforward enjoyed superiority over the presidencies of Madras and Bombay. He was to be advised by a Supreme Council, with some members appointed by the Crown. There was some tinkering with the internal organisation of the Company,
         intended to prevent factional squabbles among its directors, and its accounts and correspondence were opened for Treasury
         inspection. Little was done to reform the day-to-day governance of India, although the act stipulated that in future Company
         officials and army officers ‘shall not accept, receive or take directly or indirectly . . . from any of the Indian princes or Powers, or their Ministers or Agents (or any natives of Asia) any Present, Gift, Donation, Opportunity or Reward’. This clause turned out to be a piece of legislative wishful thinking,
         for it was ignored by the men-on-the-spot whose lodestar was still the career of Clive.
      

      
      Clive had survived the Parliamentary campaign of vituperation with an intact fortune but a blemished reputation. It suffered
         further, in the eyes of posterity, by his suicide in November 1774, although it was more likely to have been prompted by a
         painful illness than remorse. In the next century, Clive became something of an embarrassment for historians such as James
         Mill and Thomas Macaulay, for whom the Raj was one of the highest attainments of Christian civilisation. Clive was indisputably
         the founder of British India, but his methods and character were those of an adventurer who turned public emergencies to his
         own advantage. He was never, and Victorian imperialists found this unforgiveable, an idealist; he cared little for and knew
         less of Indian culture and did not consider it the Company’s duty to uplift and improve its new subjects. He died when the
         Romantic movement was gaining headway and with it a new humanitarianism; his legacy was a popular image of the Company as
         a tyranny which encouraged and exploited human suffering.
      

      
      IV

      
      Public disquiet at how Bengal was being governed was not dissipated by the 1773 Regulating Act. It broke surface again in
         May 1782, when the Commons demanded the dismissal of the Governor-General of Bengal, Warren Hastings, on the grounds that
         he had ‘acted in a manner repugnant to the honour and policy of the British nation’. The rumpus which followed formed the
         background to a two-year Parliamentary wrangle over fresh regulations for the Company. Controversy over Hastings’s objectives,
         methods and rewards led to his impeachment in the spring of 1786, a process which dragged on for a further nine years and
         ended with his acquittal.
      

      
      
      The object of this contention had been born in 1732 into a family of decayed gentry whose last days of glory had been under
         the Tudors. Hastings was proud of his surname and ancestry, and among the luxuries he purchased on his first return from India
         in 1765 was a carriage ‘of a pleasant pompadour’ emblazoned with the ancient arms of his family. This dashing, crimson vehicle
         and sundry other luxuries were paid for by the £30,000 he had brought back from Calcutta, some of it made in private trade
         and the rest from gifts received for helping nawabs on and off their thrones. Some of the cash went on a portrait rendered
         by Sir Joshua Reynolds in which Hastings’s face is a mask of aristocratic hauteur. One of his hands rests on a pile of business
         papers, the other hangs limply, which was a nice touch since the subject swung between extremes of energy and lassitude in
         his public life.
      

      
      By 1769 Hastings was in debt, from which he was saved by an appointment to the Madras council, and three years after he was
         made Governor-General of Bengal. He spent lavishly on a sumptuous household, but during his twelve years in office he managed
         to accumulate a fortune of roughly £218,000, an amount almost equal to his salary for the period. Among his acquisitions was
         a huge diamond tinged with red which was valued at £10,000 and offered to the Czaritsa Catherine, but she was not tempted.10 He was the nabob par excellence, although, like Clive, he was certain that he acted honourably, balancing private gain with public service. He explained
         his outlook to the Prime Minister, William Pitt the Younger, in a letter of December 1784:
      

      
      
         It has been my Lot to desire from long Possession and casual Influence Advantages which have overcome the worst Effects of
            my own Deficiencies, and it has been a Maxim of my Conduct . . . to do what I knew was requisite for public safety, though
            I should doom my own Life to legal Forfeitures, or my name to Infamy.11

      

      
      Hastings’s vision was imperial. Had it been fulfilled, he claimed in 1783, then, ‘British Dominion might by this time have
         acquired the Means of its Extension, through a virtual Submission to its Authority, of every region in Indostan and Deccan’.12 Creating a greater imperium in India was not what the government or the Company had wanted, especially as it involved them
         in a series of expensive and far from conclusive wars against Mysore and the Maratha polity.
      

      
      
      Hastings had exceeded his brief, which had been to collect taxes, maintain civil order, administer justice and do all within
         his power to promote relations with the Indian states which would favour British trade.
      

      
      Leaving aside Hastings’s culpability, his record as it was appreciated in Britain raised a fresh hue and cry against the Company.
         Towards the end of 1781 there were Whig demands for a ‘Magna Charta’ for India which, as its name suggested, was intended
         to end the Company’s despotism.13 The prime movers were Charles James Fox and Edmund Burke, whose India bill presented at the end of 1783 was designed to place
         British possessions there under direct Crown administration. Not only would this bill extend the blessings of a benevolent
         government to George III’s Indian subjects, it would, according to Burke, serve as a ‘guard to preserve the British Constitution
         from its worst corruption’ – in other words the influence of the East India Company. The Company responded with its old battlecry:
         ‘Our property and charter are forcibly invaded’. Five counties and forty-five boroughs rallied to its defence and petitioned
         the Commons on its behalf.14 George III was also alarmed by this assault on property and put pressure on the Lords, who threw out the bill. He intervened
         again in what had become a constitutional crisis by dissolving Parliament and calling a general election in the spring of
         1784.
      

      
      The nabobs and their bank balances were mobilised, and when he was returned to power the younger Pitt was able to count on
         over forty to swell his majority. Burke was bitter and prophesied that the government might soon be overwhelmed by these venal
         men, aided and abetted by Hastings when he finally returned from India. What he failed to realise was that his spiteful, obsessive
         campaign against Hastings had alienated many within the Commons, a body which has always shown misgivings about members who
         ride their hobby-horses relentlessly.
      

      
      Having dished the Whigs, Pitt anticipated Disraeli by stealing their clothes, or at least some of them. Not wholly convinced
         by Burke’s allegations against Hastings, Pitt was well aware that the affairs of India needed to be placed on a new footing.
         The upshot was the India Act of 1784 which placed the Company’s territories under a form of dual government. The court of
         directors retained their old powers of patronage. Executive control of Indian affairs passed to a new body, the Board of Control,
         whose president was a member of the Cabinet and answerable to Parliament.
      

      
      It was a cumbersome arrangement which still allowed local administrators considerable freedom of action. A despatch from Viscount
         Castlereagh, then president of the Board of Control, to the Governor-General, Marquess Wellesley, written on 17 December 1802, arrived in Calcutta on 6 May 1803. Another, written on 14 February 1803,
         was opened at Government House on 6 July 1803. There were some improvements in communications, most importantly the establishment
         of an express route by way of the Mediterranean and the Suez isthmus. Even so, it took between 102 and 142 days for a letter
         from England to reach Bombay in 1815.15

      
      V

      
      An example of what officials in India might get up to if they were left to their own devices was the squalid Ruhela war of
         1774. It had been waged by Company troops on behalf of the Nawab of Awadh, who had paid for their services, so helping Hastings
         to balance his budget. The affair naturally attracted the attention of the Commons during the Governor-General’s impeachment
         and several officers involved were closely cross-examined. One, Major Marsack, revealed that the Hindu peasantry had been
         benevolently ruled by their Ruhela masters and as a consequence the country reached ‘the greatest Height of Opulence’. After
         conquest and on the arrival of the nawab’s tax collectors, the region’s prosperity disappeared.16

      
      The incident raised one significant question: by what moral right did the Company conquer lands in India? The evidence strongly
         suggested that the Ruhela state was orderly and flourishing and, therefore, in the eyes of eighteenth-century Englishmen,
         deserved to be considered as civilised. Moreover, its inhabitants were fulfilling, unknowingly of course, the will of God,
         who had ordained that the fruits and treasures of the earth belonged naturally to those who used them to the best advantage.
         Post-Reformation theology had provided a mandate for European expansion in America and Africa where, it was alleged, native
         populations had ignored or neglected what God had provided. Amerindians and Negroes could be evicted from their lands by interlopers
         who had the will and capacity to develop them. The law of man concurred with that of God: at the time of the Ruhela war Captain
         James Cook was cruising in the Pacific armed with a ruling of Justice Sir William Blackstone, who had declared that Australia
         was ‘terra nullius’, a land owned (as yet) by no one.
      

      
      By no stretch of the imagination could India, or any other Asian country, be considered an empty, uncultivated land, lacking
         what the philosopher John Locke had called ‘industrious and rational people’ to exploit it. Nor was it without a society whose hierarchy and government would have been recognisable as ‘civilised’ by men of reason.
         India lay firmly within the compass of that civilised world which had been known to Greek and Roman historians and geographers
         and, unlike America, it had always had cultural and economic relationships with Europe.
      

      
      James Forbes, an amateur anthropologist of indefatigable curiosity, who served the Company in the Bombay presidency between
         1765 and 1783, detected a closeness between Hindu morality and legends and those of the ancient Greeks. Hindu ‘village nymphs’
         appeared to wear robes similar to those of Greek maidens as they appeared on statues. The natives of the Malabar coast had
         enjoyed exchanges with the civilisations of Egypt, Assyria, Persia, Greece and Rome, but Forbes regretted that the cumulative
         effect of these associations had been limited, for the Malabari inhabitants had remained ‘for a thousand years in the same
         state of mediocrity’. Like many others, he blamed imaginary Indian stagnation on the heat. Nonetheless, he concluded that
         the Indians were on a far higher plane of civilisation than the Amerindians and Negroes, since India possessed ‘eloquence,
         poetry, painting and architecture, in a considerable degree of perfection’.17

      
      Forbes was also impressed by the skills of Indian eye surgeons, and William Gilchrist, a surgeon and proto-vet in the Company’s
         service, was happy to use native remedies when treating sick elephants.18 An officer in the Company’s army noticed that Indian junior officers and NCOs displayed ‘greater penetration and intelligence’
         than their European counterparts.19 His judgement confirmed a view which was already well established. Thomas Bowrey, who visited India during the second half
         of the seventeenth century, encountered clever craftsmen, merchants and mathematicians and judged Indians as intelligent a
         race as any on earth.20 Ample evidence of this was provided by Indian art, architecture and artefacts: an eighteenth-century man of discrimination
         would happily fill his house with Indian chintzes and miniatures, but would disdain the native handiwork of Africa or America
         as barbaric.
      

      
      Visitors to Bombay regularly undertook sightseeing trips to the Elephanta Island cave temples to examine the erotic sculpture,
         which were taken by some as a basis for the ‘supposition of high civilisation among the Hindus’.21 The Marquess of Hastings, who became Governor-General in 1814, compared the statues of gods in Indian temples to the carved
         figures he had seen in mediaeval churches.22 James Mill, relying on illustrations, disagreed and contemptuously dismissed both Gothic and Indian art as products of a ‘very low stage of civilisation’.23 Indian sculpture stood comparison with Greek and Roman, at least in the eyes of connoisseurs of pornography. An engraving
         of one carving showing, among other things, fellatio, found its way into An Account of the Remains of the Worship of Priapus, a series of engravings which appeared in 1786. The original drawing had been made by a naval officer.24

      
      All travellers to India were alternately fascinated and repelled by the connection between religious practises and sexual
         enjoyment, something unknown in Europe since pre-Christian times. Alexander Hamilton, a Scot who toured India at the end of
         the seventeenth and beginning of the eighteenth centuries, came across one Hindu holy man, a giant with a massive penis to
         which was attached a gold ring. He was greatly revered by young married women who knelt before ‘the living Priapus, and taking him devoutly in their Hands, kist him, whilst his bawdy Owner strokt their silly Heads, muttering some filthy
         prayers for their Purification’.25 This was but one manifestation of what other visitors saw as the mindless submission of the Hindus to their clergy. Thomas
         Bowrey was shocked by the ‘Seduceing and bewitchinge Brahmins’ who misled the simple-minded with superstitious fancies.26 A naval officer, visiting the Coromandel coast in the 1750s, was appalled by the sight of ‘Pagans of many Sects, who have
         a great number of Pagodas or Temples in which they worship Images of different kinds of Animals &c., being grossly and ridiculously impos’d upon by their Priests
         and Brahmins’.27

      
      Both observers held to that Protestant world-view which coloured the thinking of most Britons. It had found its most trenchant
         expression in John Milton’s Second Defence of the People of England (1654), in which he contrasted the ‘liberty’ and civil life and worship of his countrymen with the abjectness of peoples
         who were ‘stupified by the wicked arts of priests’ and ‘merely worship as gods those demons they are unable to put to flight’.
         The author had in mind Roman Catholics, but he could have easily been referring to Hindus as they were perceived by Britons
         then and during the next century. When not deriding the follies of India’s Hindus, Hamilton was jeering, in typically Protestant
         vein, at its Catholics. In Portuguese Goa he heard the church bells ringing continuously and remarked: ‘They have a specifick
         Power to drive away all Manner of evil Spirits, except Poverty in the Laity and pride in the clergy.’
      

      
      If traveller-writers such as Hamilton were to be believed, and they generally were, Hinduism and an enervating climate were
         together responsible for the Indian character. By the end of the century the stereotype of the sly, timid and servile Bengali was well established in the British consciousness, and in this unflattering form he took his place
         in a gallery of national caricatures, alongside the foppish Frenchman, the ridiculous Italian and the haughty Spaniard.28 Imagined deficiencies in character did not, however, give the Company the right to conquer and govern Indians. Whatever their
         moral disabilities, they were clearly a hard-working, skilful people whose industry qualified them for a place in that Divine
         ordering of the world under which all races were judged according to their usefulness and productivity. Unlike the African
         Negroes, the Indians were never condemned wholesale to a life of plantation slavery. Indeed, by the early 1800s the Company
         was endeavouring to suppress domestic slavery within its territories and those of its princely allies and clients.
      

      
      Clive and Hastings had created an empire in what was, in effect, a moral vacuum. Their only justification for their actions
         had been political expediency. To protect its commerce, the Company had been driven to take control of Karnataka and Bengal
         and the quest for security proved unending. From 1770 onwards the Company found itself engaged in one war after another, either
         against hostile neighbours or its rebellious subjects. What one warrior proconsul later called ‘the Red Mark of the British
         Empire’ was spreading crablike and inexorably across the map of India.29

      
      Seen from an Indian perspective, the Company was a highly successful competitor in the power struggles which marked the disintegration
         of Mughal authority. It was acting according to that local political theory which was summed up by the Persian proverb: ‘He
         who can wield the sword shall have money struck in his name.’ This philosophy did not prevail in Britain where, for the past
         century and a half, traditions of government through consent and individual liberty had taken deep root. Moreover, as Parliamentary
         scrutiny of the Company’s affairs revealed, an empire based upon military might was being governed without justice or humanity.
         Even those involved were repelled; an officer who had taken part in the infamous Ruhela campaign of 1774 felt that it had
         destroyed ‘our Character for Justice and Clemency’. It was painful, therefore, to find that those virtues which underpinned
         the eighteenth-century Briton’s sense of superiority had somehow been jettisoned in India.
      

      
      The controversies about how the affairs of India ought to be managed occurred at a time when there was a far wider and more
         far-reaching public debate about the nature of Britain’s overseas empire. To some extent, India was peripheral to the disputes
         which centred on relations with the American colonies and whether or not their inhabitants were entitled to the same political and legal rights enjoyed
         by their kinsfolk in Britain. The matter had been resolved by the end of 1782, with the end of the War of Independence and
         the emergence of the independent United States of America. Superficially, India presented a very different set of moral problems:
         the Company’s provinces had been acquired by conquest; its peoples possessed their own culture and systems of government which
         were utterly unlike those of Britain; and its British population was transient. Were Indians, therefore, perpetually excluded
         from the enjoyment, even in the least degree, of the rights which their rulers considered as their special birthright? Put
         another way, would India remain an Oriental despotism overseen by British officials in the name of commerce?
      

      
      The answer had been a qualified ‘no’. Public opinion in the late eighteenth century had refused to tolerate a tyranny run
         in Britain’s name and had insisted, in the teeth of the Company’s opposition, on extending to India the framework of honest
         and fair government. While British politicians had been seeking some kind of ethical basis for the new empire, officials in
         India were groping towards a moral justification for the fledgling Raj. The result was a compound of pragmatism and idealism.
         Experience showed that for the time being Indians lacked that sense of public responsibility which was necessary if a people
         were to govern themselves. In the words of one official, their ‘Disposition, Manners and Prejudices require that the legislative
         and executive Powers be lodged in one Hand’, which, it went without saying, would be British. John Shore, a member of the
         Calcutta council who became Governor-General in 1793, justified what amounted to an alien autocracy on the grounds of the
         superiority of the British character. ‘A Sense of Humour and Virtue’ and a reputation for ‘Bravery, Clemency and Good Faith’
         were the distinguishing marks of the Company’s servants which ideally qualified them to rule over those without these virtues.
         Such paragons might bring about a limited regeneration of the Indians:
      

      
      
         The more we are aquainted with their [the Bengalis’] Genius and Manners, the more it is incumbent upon us to make them useful
            and happy Subjects; and if they are incapable of meriting and enjoying the Freedom of British Laws let us endeavour to leave
            them the Happiness and Security of their own institutions unviolated.30

      

      
      
      He was writing in 1785, by when, it seemed, the Bengalis were already ‘the happiest Subjects of any great state in India’.

      
      This vision of a benign Raj actively promoting the happiness and prosperity of its subjects went a long way towards satisfying
         Burke’s demand for an Indian empire governed in accordance with British principles of equity and respect for the rights of
         individuals. Shore spoke with the voice of a new generation of Company servants who were coming into prominence towards the
         end of the century. They shared with their predecessors, the nabobs, the conviction that the Indians were, in Shore’s words,
         ‘wholly devoid of Public Virtue’. The Indian mind was afflicted by a form of mental astigmatism which prevented its owner
         from ever telling the truth or making an impartial judgement. If this sweeping generalisation was the case, British government
         could be defended on moral grounds because it was disinterested, just and directed by men of the highest integrity who placed
         public duty before self-interest.
      

      
      But these administrators would have to proceed warily, for, as Shore had pointed out, the Company had no mandate to uproot
         well-established Indian institutions. None would ever have been given, for a conservative British political establishment
         would have shrunk from interference with the Indian social order which, like that at home, was an organism produced by a gradual
         historical development based upon practical needs. Old hierarchies were not to be dismantled and, wherever possible, the old
         live-and-let-live approach to local customs would be maintained.
      

      
      And yet, for all its new and yet-to-be-defined good intentions and hopes that, in the future, the Indian empire might be one
         based upon goodwill, the Company’s Raj still depended ultimately on its formidable war machine. There were still plenty of
         disaffected Indians within its provinces, and beyond their borders there were hostile Indian states whose rulers were prepared
         to challenge the Company. No one understood this better than that tough realist Henry Dundas, who became president of the
         Board of Control in 1793. ‘Military men,’ he insisted, ‘are the best of all governors of India.’
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      I

      
      There was never a masterplan for the conquest of India. No minister in London or governor-general in Calcutta consciously decided
         that the ultimate goal of British policy was paramountcy throughout the subcontinent. Instead, there was a sequence of tactical
         decisions made in response to local and sometimes unexpected crises. A backsliding raja who evaded his treaty obligations,
         a client state in peril from its neighbours, encroachments on British territory, or an independent frontier state making aggressive
         noises were sufficient justifications for war. When the fighting was over, the Company found itself with additional land,
         responsibilities and revenues. The upshot was that by the middle of the century it had acquired a monopoly of power in India.
      

      
      No single genius made this process of conquest and annexation possible. Its course was directed by a handful of individuals
         most of whom, if pressed on the matter, would have argued that British supremacy in India was the only practical and desirable
         solution to the problems they faced as commanders and administrators. The most forthright explanation of their principles
         was delivered by John Malcolm in 1805 as a protest against the recall of the Marquess Wellesley:
      

      
      
         It was a true saying which the great Lord Clive applied to the progress of the British empire in India – ‘To stop is dangerous; to recede ruin.’ And if we do recede, either from our right
            pretentions and claims – nay, if we look as if we thought of receding – we shall have a host of enemies, and thousands who
            dare not even harbour a thought of opposing the irresistible tide of our success, will hasten to attack a nation which shows
            by diffidence in its own power that it anticipates its downfall.1

      

      
      This was the gospel of the ‘forward’ school expressed by one of its most pugnacious members. Malcolm was one of seventeen
         children of a pious Borders farmer and his entry into the Company’s service was a fitting prelude to his career. Presented
         to the directors in 1781 at the age of twelve, he was asked, ‘Why, my little man, what would you do if you were to meet Hyder Ali?’ ‘Do, Sir?’ replied Malcolm. ‘I would out with my sword, and cut off his head.’ ‘You will
         do,’ said the astonished questioner. And he did; during the next forty-nine years, Malcolm discovered a flair for Persian,
         served successively as an assistant resident, Marquess Wellesley’s secretary, Ambassador to Persia, a brigade commander and
         Governor of Bombay. He never diluted his opinions. ‘No retreat’ was the sole basis for British policy in India, he told a
         Commons select committee a year before his death. ‘The liberality of our government gave grace to conquest,’ he added, perhaps
         sensing that his audience might have been taken aback by his robustness.2 Malcolm’s likeness, as rendered by the fashionable portraitist, Sir George Hayter, is that of a sturdy but genial John Bull,
         wearing an antique steel gorget which might have done service for Don Quixote, and a huge fur pellise. Were it not for the
         Order of the Bath round his neck, he might have been some Border chieftain from the pages of Scott.
      

      
      In India, as on the Anglo-Scottish marches, war had a momentum of its own. Supremacy rested upon fear, and hesitancy would
         always be interpreted as weakness by a population that needed continual reminders of British invincibility. In March 1804,
         General James Stuart assured Lord Hobart, the secretary for war, that the defeat of the Marathas would ‘give a new Character
         to the British power, and promote that Superiority of Strength which will be the best means of securing the Tranquility of
         India’.3 The psychology of the Indian was such that he saw power solely in terms of winning or losing battles and his memory needed
         constant jogging.
      

      
      British prestige soared every time the Company’s army beat a native one. If, for some reason, British forces were overcome
         or forced to retire, Britain’s standing was diminished throughout India. Reverses suffered at the hands of Haidar Ali during the 1780–84 Mysore
         war severely tarnished the Company’s reputation.4 The final overthrow of his son, Tipu Sultan, in 1799 obliterated at a stroke ‘the spirit of insubordination and contempt’
         which the Marquess Wellesley imagined to be abroad among Muslims.5 The capture of Delhi and the subsequent victory at Laswari convinced Man Singh, the Maharaja of Jodhpur, to shift his allegiance
         away from the Maratha prince, Daulat Rao Scindia, and towards the Company.6 A loss of face in one region might encourage defiance in another. In July 1815, as British forces were plunging into Nepal,
         the Marquess Hastings told the War Office that more was at stake than teaching the Gurkhas a lesson in civility: ‘To be foiled
         by the Gurkhas, or to make a discreditable accomodation with them, would have led to incalculable mischief.’7 Even a temporary tactical withdrawal of a small garrison could have dangerous repercussions. ‘Any diminution of our forces
         in Gujarat will diminish our local influence,’ a nervous commissioner predicted in 1803.8

      
      No chance was ever missed to deliver a condign blow. When a Jat raja ignored his treaty responsibilities by turning his stronghold
         into a sanctuary for brigands, his misconduct provided what one officer called a ‘fair excuse’ for war. It was a comparatively
         minor affair in which a small force ‘soon convinced him out of the eloquent mouths of cannons and mortars (how wondrously
         convincing they are!) of the error of his ways’.9 The rhetoric of gunfire was not always effective the first time. In May 1800, Arthur Wellesley (the future Duke of Wellington
         and Marquess Wellesley’s younger brother) who was later known for his humanity on the battlefield, ordered the commander of
         a punitive column in Malabar to burn Mapilla villages and carry off property and livestock. By these measures, he argued:
         ‘The confidence of our Native Troops will be increased and that of their opponents diminished.’ The Mapillas proved a stubborn
         lot; eighteen months later Wellesley was still urging further applications of ‘Terror’ to bring them to their senses.10

      
      Hammering the Company’s enemies made good strategic sense if one imagined, as did most Governor-Generals and senior officers,
         that British paramountcy was precarious. The Company’s situation and its inherent perils were summed up by the Governor-General,
         Lord Hardinge, in 1844:
      

      
      
         In India no man can say what a month may produce in a country of 120 millions of inhabitants governed by an army which is officered by aliens, whilst the mass of the force under these foreign officers consents to co-erce their own countrymen,
            merely for the sake of pay and pension – mesmerised as it were by a handful of officers exhibiting in the working of the system the greatest phenomenon that the world ever witnessed.11

      

      
      In these circumstances, there was no alternative to taking the offensive immediately and with the maximum force at the faintest
         hint of unrest or defiance. The long arm of the Raj could reach anywhere and its enemies could expect no respite. Extreme
         hawkishness had its risks. The Company could never be strong everywhere, for its forces were always scattered and outnumbered
         by those of its potential enemies. Furthermore, the cost of more or less continual military exertion was stretching the Company’s
         resources to breaking point. This was one of the reasons why, in May 1803, Viscount Castlereagh, the president of the Board
         of Control, advised the Marquess Wellesley against further offensives. The minister was also nervous about the balance of
         forces in India. There were 18,000 white soldiers there, of whom at least one in ten was an invalid of some sort, and roughly
         three times that number of sepoys with which to control a population then reckoned to be about fifty million.12 Besides, Britain was preparing to resist Bonaparte’s invasion army and no reinforcements were available.
      

      
      The Marquess already had the bit between the teeth, and when Castlereagh’s letter reached Calcutta, operations against the
         Marathas were already in full swing. They did not proceed as Wellesley would have wished: after a series of stunning successes,
         the campaign in northern India ran out of steam. He had finally overreached himself and the court of directors were jittery
         about the £6.5 million loan hurriedly raised by London markets to pay for the new war. Bankruptcy threatened and Wellesley
         was recalled in 1805. He faced a clumsy attempt at impeachment in the Commons, in which he was charged with, among other things:
         breaking treaties, squandering his employer’s wealth, exercising power despotically, and setting up his own statue in Calcutta
         after consigning that of Lord Cornwallis to a cellar. If this was true, it had been a symbolic gesture, for Cornwallis had
         avoided expansionist policies. Aged sixty-seven, he returned to India as Wellesley’s replacement. He died there towards the
         end of 1805 and was succeeded by Sir George Barlow and the Earl of Minto, who followed to the letter pacific and non-interventionist
         policies dictated in London.
      

      
      II

      
      The Marquess had been able to justify his stepping up the pace of conquest on the grounds that India was a war zone in the
         global conflict between Britain and France. Robert Clive had predicted that the French would seek to reverse the verdict of
         1763 and try to regain their former power in India in coalition with anti-British princes. His prophecy was fulfilled by the
         alliance between Haidar Ali and France in 1780, and for the next four years the Company had some narrow scrapes. It was saved
         in this and in later conflicts by British domination of the Atlantic and Indian Oceans, which severely limited the assistance
         the French could send to their Indian partners. Even so, there were some tricky moments. The Royal Navy’s control of home
         waters and the North Atlantic was uncertain for much of 1797, and the French gained a temporary superiority in the western
         Mediterranean the following year. Victory at Trafalgar in October 1805 brought lasting security and removed for ever the possibility
         of French seaborne intervention in India. In any case, the odds against this had been considerably lengthened by the occupation
         of the Cape in 1795 and Mauritius in 1809. Henceforward, the Indian Ocean was a British lake.
      

      
      From the standpoint of Calcutta, it was not the ambitions of the Paris government, but the activities of several hundred Frenchmen
         in India which attracted the most concern. Professional soldiers, they had been hired in the 1770s to train the armies of
         Mysore, Hyderabad and the Maratha polity to fight with muskets and cannon in the European fashion. Modernising the fighting
         techniques of the Company’s potential foes had been accompanied by hurried rearmament programmes. Indian gunsmiths and iron
         and steel founders began fabricating European-style weaponry to provide firepower for the new armies. While Indian steel matched
         British in quality, output was limited and gun-making was undertaken on a small scale.13

      
      The techniques being developed during Britain’s industrial revolution guaranteed that the Company’s army would have a steady
         supply of flintlock muskets and cannon, the two weapons which now dominated the Indian battlefield. Perhaps in acknowledgement
         of this, Tipu Sultan sent agents to Paris in 1791 with orders for artillery, muskets and ammunition, which were to be supplied
         by Dutch arms dealers.14 Details of their shopping list were discovered by Admiralty Intelligence. This information confirmed what was well known
         from other sources: Tipu was bent on a new trial of strength with the Company which, if he triumphed, would restore the boundaries and fortunes of Mysore.
      

      
      Tipu had declared himself the tiger prince, a ferocious champion of Islam and the state which his warrior father had seized
         in 1767. His son kept a menagerie of tigers in his palace at Seringapatam and he surrounded himself with images of that beast.
         Snarling gold tigers adorned his personal weapons and, in premature celebration of future victories, Tipu had a mechanical
         tiger fabricated. This massive, brightly painted creature stands astride its prey, a cowering Company officer, complete with
         tall black hat. The animal roars and the man screams; sounds created by a contraption of clockwork and bellows inside the
         tiger. This device was among the spoils of war taken when Seringapatam fell, and eventually found its way to the Company’s
         cabinet of curiosities, housed in Leadenhall Street. Today, Tipu’s tiger is displayed in the Victoria and Albert Museum and
         is still capable of making a sound, if somewhat feebly. Sadly, Tipu’s real tigers were all shot, for the Company’s army could
         provide no food for them.
      

      
      The tiger sultan’s vanity was balanced by political shrewdness. The restoration of Mysore could only be accomplished through
         an alliance with France and injections of French help through Mauritius. Tipu went to considerable lengths to cultivate the
         revolutionary régime in Paris and its offshoot in the Indian Ocean: he wore a cap of liberty when he met French representatives,
         called himself ‘Citizen Tipu’ and expressed sympathy for the ideals of Robespierre. Elsewhere in India, French mercenary officers
         elected their generals, hoisted tricolours and voiced what the Marquess Wellesley called ‘the most virulent and notorious
         principles of Jacobinism’. One alarmist intelligence report claimed that Hyderabad’s French officers were planning a revolution,
         which would overthrow the nizam and establish the Rights of Man in southern India.
      

      
      These developments frightened the Marquess Wellesley. But they were also a godsend, for they gave him an excuse to invade
         Mysore and deal once and for all with a persistent and dangerous adversary. Wellesley had carefully read the intelligence
         summaries from southern India during his voyage from Cape Town to Calcutta and, on his arrival early in 1798, he set in motion
         policies designed to destroy both Tipu and the Hyderabad mercenaries. As the year unfolded, preparations for war took on a
         new urgency when news of Napoleon’s intended invasion of Egypt reached Calcutta.
      

      
      On hearing of his destination, Dundas, the president of the Board of Control and secretary for war, had imagined that Bonaparte
         might use Egypt as a springboard for an overland offensive against Indian’s western frontier. Geographers and travellers were invited
         to offer opinions and they argued that he could easily attack through Persia or Afghanistan with the connivance and possibly
         active help of their rulers. Then and later, those who ought to have known better were united in their opinion that large
         European armies, complete with pack animals, would move swiftly and comfortably across waterless deserts and over mountains
         in extremes of heat and cold. Having marched thousands of miles to the borders of India, the armies of the French Republic
         would be welcomed by Tipu and the anti-British princes.
      

      
      The great ‘scare’ of 1798 came to nothing. Nelson shattered the French Mediterranean fleet at Abukir bay on 1 August, leaving
         Bonaparte’s army stranded in Egypt. He soon abandoned it and returned to France, where he made himself its dictator. The French
         officers in Hyderabad and their sepoys had been neutralised by a bloodless coup. Mysore was overrun and Tipu died during the
         storming of Seringapatam. Shortly after, an Indian contingent was sent to help eliminate the detritus of the French army in
         Egypt.
      

      
      The importance of the events of 1798–99 was not in what happened, but what was feared might happen. They offered a blueprint
         for the possible overthrow of the Raj by a coalition of internal and external forces which it lacked the manpower to withstand.
         The message was clear: so long as independent and well-armed hostile native states remained in existence, there would be allies
         for any invader. The Maratha leaders were known to have been following events in Egypt and Europe with great interest. Nonetheless,
         the War Office imagined that with Tipu dead and Napoleon back in Paris, Calcutta no longer had anyone to fear. In 1802 the
         Marquess Wellesley was asked to send home surplus troops.15

      
      This was the last thing he intended, for his mind was on his next target, the Marathas. It is easy to define the Maratha polity
         in terms of geography and almost impossible to define it politically, or at least in terms which would have been comprehensible
         to the Marquess and his staff. The Marathas dominated a broad swathe of land which stretched from the Sutlej in the north
         across the Deccan to the frontiers of Hyderabad and Mysore. There was no political, legal or fiscal uniformity within this
         vast region, which was why the government in Calcutta tended to think of it as a ragbag of conflicting anarchies. Kinship
         held one key to political power and, by the end of the eighteenth century, five Maratha dynasties had come to enjoy considerable
         power with the polity: the peshwas of Poona; the Scindias of Gwalior; the Holkars of Indore; the Bhonsles of Nagpur and the Gaikwars of Baroda. There was no head
         of the Maratha polity, but the peshwa enjoyed a special prestige, which Calcutta mistakenly took to be a form of political
         overlordship.
      

      
      Factional struggles and disputed successions intermittently disturbed the Maratha polity. Their prevalence compelled each
         dynasty to retain large armies, mostly irregular light horsemen, which had recently been stiffened by battalions of Indian
         infantrymen, drilled and commanded by European and American mercenaries. All Maratha princes faced perpetual insolvency and
         so their armies were in a permanent state of deliquescence, with unpaid cavalrymen living off the peasantry. Despite a ramshackle
         military system, the Maratha princes could put enormous armies into the field in an emergency. Intelligence based upon residents’
         reports estimated that Daulat Rao Scindia could muster 16,000 well-trained infantrymen commanded by a Frenchman, General Pierre
         Perron, as well as swarms of irregular horse. Perron aroused deep suspicions in Calcutta; from his days in Hyderabad he had
         a reputation as an extreme republican, and there were well-founded suspicions that he might reestablish a new focus for French
         power in India by taking full control of the tax districts allocated him by Scindia for the upkeep of his troops. During the
         brief Anglo-French peace between 1802 and 1803, Perron made approaches to Bonaparte and a shipload of French recruits for
         Scindia’s army turned up at Calcutta, only to be sent packing by Wellesley. This incident and Perron’s intrigues made it easy
         for the Governor-General to resurrect the French bogey when it came to justifying the Maratha war in London.
      

      
      A welcome chance to meddle in Maratha affairs was presented in 1802, when the peshwa, bedevilled by debts and enemies, threw
         himself at the Company’s feet after his eviction from his capital, Poona (Pune). Baji Rao returned, escorted by an army commanded
         by Arthur Wellesley (now a major-general) the following year. The price of his restoration was an unequal treaty which transformed
         him into a Company stooge, guarded by sepoys and under the thumb of a resident. In return, he ceded territory and allocated
         revenues to pay the wages of his new guardians. The Company now had the means to splinter the Maratha polity and secure control
         over the fragments. Scindia and Raghuji Bhonsle of Nagpur were the first targets, and by the middle of 1803 they had been
         temporarily isolated by a brilliant exercise in diplomatic chicanery. A dozen years later, on the eve of Waterloo, the Prussian
         general Von Gneisenau warned a colleague that Arthur Wellesley had been schooled in the arts of duplicity in India to the point where he could ‘outwit the Nabobs themselves’,
         and was not, therefore, to be trusted.
      

      
      War broke out towards the end of the south-west monsoon and at the onset of the cool season in 1803. There were two simultaneous
         offensives by a total of 60,000 men; the smaller in the Deccan under Major-General Wellesley and the larger in the north,
         under General Sir Gerard (later Viscount) Lake. His was the crucial theatre, for Wellesley had ordered him to deliver lightning
         attacks which would successively eliminate Perron’s force, seize Agra and Delhi and drive a wedge between Scindia’s territories
         and the Sikh state of the Punjab to the north. Both cities were taken. Maratha forces were beaten in a series of hard-fought
         battles on the southern front (Assaye and Argaum [Argaon]) and in the north (Aligarh, Delhi and Laswari). To everyone’s relief,
         the European-trained battalions were overcome without much difficulty, thanks in large part to the desertion of most of their
         white officers, who chose not to hazard their lives in what was clearly a lost cause. Among them was James Skinner, the son
         of a Scottish officer and Rajput lady, who offered his sword to the Company and soon distinguished himself as a commander
         of irregular Indian cavalry.
      

      
      The defeated Scindia relinquished all his territory north of the Jumma, including Agra, Delhi and Gujarat, while Bhonsle handed
         over Orissa and other lands to the east of Nagpur. Various small Jat, Ruhela and Rajput states, which had previously been
         within Scindia’s orbit, passed into the Company’s. Next, Wellesley launched the all but exhausted Company’s northern army
         against the hitherto neutral Jaswant Rao Holkar. It came unstuck, as did the Governor-General, who was called home. The bruised
         and truncated Maratha polity was given a twelve-year breathing space.
      

      
      Treaties dictated at bayonet point had left the Maratha princes in a sort of political limbo. Power passed to the Company’s
         residents who, backed by sepoys, were the masters of the state, dictating policy and supervising all aspects of everyday government.
         Friction was inevitable, especially in Poona where a sulky Baji Rao resented his humiliating dependency. Resistance flared
         up, more or less spontaneously, in Poona and Nagpur during the autumn and winter of 1817.
      

      
      This was good news for the Marquess Hastings. He was a phlegmatic, well-meaning soldier in his mid-sixties who had first seen
         action against the Americans at Bunker Hill. As Governor-General he shared Wellesley’s vision of British India as a spreading
         sea of civilisation which would eventually cover the whole sub-continent for the benefit of all its peoples. He dedicated himself to the promotion of the
         ‘happiness of the vast population of this country’, a goal which included the extension of civil peace to areas which had
         hitherto lacked it.16 Hastings’s aspirations ran against the grain of his instructions, which were to continue the peaceful policies of his immediate
         predecessors and steer clear of any entanglements with the independent princes. His expansionist inclinations were stiffened
         by the advice of Wellesley’s old acolytes, Malcolm, Montstuart Elphinstone and Charles Metcalfe, all of whom had kept alive
         the Marquess’s aggressive spirit. They persuaded Hastings that it was both foolhardy and impractical to quarantine British
         India from its jealous and unruly neighbours. Above all, the Company could not afford to allow wounded tigers (i.e. the Marathas)
         to remain at large. Proof of this assertion was provided by the incursions into British territory of marauding bands of Pindari
         horsemen during 1815 and 1816.
      

      
      Pindari temerity was evidence of the ineptitude and malevolence of the Maratha princes. According to the treaties they had
         unwillingly signed, it was their duty to restrain these freelances whom they occasionally hired, but could rarely afford to
         pay. The result was that the Pindaris roamed the Deccan, plundering as they went. There were at least 20,000 of these parasites
         and, once they began causing havoc in British-ruled districts, Hastings was determined to destroy them. His reports of Pindari
         atrocities provoked the ‘warmest indignation’ of members of the Board of Control and persuaded them to approve a punitive
         war in the Deccan. With a massive policing operation as cover, Hastings was now free to extinguish what remained of Maratha
         power by deposing Baji Rao and Appa Sahib of Nagpur. He foresaw few difficulties in a war which he called ‘a temporary evil,
         with little hazard’.17
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